
Northern Inyo Hospital

March 20 2019 Regular Meeting
March 20 2019 Regular Meeting - March 20 2019 Regular Meeting

Agenda, March 20 2019 Regular Meeting

Agenda, March 20 2019 Regular Meeting

Chief of Staff Report

Medical Executive Committee report, March 2019
Medical Staff Policy and Procedure approvals, March 2019

Joint Commission Accreditation

Accreditation Data Update, Critical Access Hospitals
Joint Commission Survey Report

Community Health Needs Assessment

Community Health Needs Assessment information

Pioneer Home Health Annual Budget

Pioneer Home Health annual budget

Strategic and Fiscal Strategy Review

Strategic and Fiscal Strategy Review

District Board Resolution 19-03

District Board Resolution 19-03

Consent Agenda

Policy and Procedure annual approvals
Minutes, January 28 Special Meeting
Minutes, February 20 2019 Regular Meeting

..................................................................2

...................................................6
...................................8

...........................................55
............................................................................80

............................................119

.....................................................................166

....................................................................175

.............................................................................421

...............................................................422
....................................................................426

.........................................................427

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

1

http://www.tcpdf.org


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

AGENDA 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

March 20, 2019 at 5:30 p.m. 

2957 Birch Street, Bishop, CA  
 

 

  

1. Call to Order (at 5:30 pm).    

2. At this time persons in the audience may speak on any items not on the agenda on any matter 

within the jurisdiction of the District Board (Members of the audience will have an opportunity to 

address the Board on every item on the agenda.  Speakers are limited to a maximum of three 

minutes each).  

3. Chief of Staff Report; Allison Robinson MD: 

A.  Policy and Procedure approvals (action items): 

1. Preoperative Medication Guidelines 

2. Newborn Screening Test 

B. Annual Reviews (action items): 

1. Utilization Review Plan 

2. Utilization Review Critical Indicators 2019 

3. Radiology Critical Indicators 2019 

4. MRI Safety Policies 

i. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety – Magnet Room 

ii. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety Burn/Thermal Incident Reduction 

iii. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety, Ear Protection 

5. Radiation Safety Policies 

i. Diagnostic Imaging – Handling of Radioactive Packages, Non-nuclear medicine 

personnel 

ii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Hot Lab Security 

iii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Materials Delivery After-hours 

iv. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Waste Storage and Disposal 

v. Diagnostic Imaging – Disposal of Radioactive Sharps 

vi. Diagnostic Imaging – Nuclear Medicine New Employee/Annual Orientation 

vii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Spills 

viii. ALARA Program 

2



Page, 2, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, March 20, 2019 

 

 

3/18/2019, 9:02 AM 

ix. Diagnostic Imaging – C-Arm (Flouroscope) Radiation Safety 

C. Medical Staff Appointments (action items): 

1. Anu Agarwal, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

2. Abhilash Akinapelli, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

3. Jack Ichino, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

4. Thomas-Duythuc To, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

5. Jeannie Pflum, DO (Obstetrics & Gynecology) – Consulting Staff 

D.  Temporary Privileges (action items): 

1. Muhammad Gill, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

2. Joseph BenPerlas, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

3. Bonnie Rashid, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

E. Telemedicine Privileges – Credentialing by Proxy (action item):  

As per the approved Telemedicine Physician Credentialing and Privileging Agreement, 

and as outlined and allowed by 42CFR 482.22, the Medical Staff has chosen to 

recommend the following practitioner for Telemedicine privileges relying upon Adventist 

Health’s credentialing and privileging decisions: 

1. Arin Aboulian, MD (Pulmonology) – Glendale Adventist Telemedicine Staff 

       F.  Reappointment to New Staff Category (action item): 

               1.      Taema Weiss, MD (Family Medicine) – recommended Staff category change from  

                        Active Staff to Consulting Staff without clinical privileges 

       G.  Advancement (action item): 

             The following Medical Staff member has satisfactorily completed their introductory  

             focused professional practice evaluations and has been recommended to advance from  

             Provisional Staff in the category listed 

1. John Adam Hawkins, DO (Emergency Medicine) – advancement to Active Staff  

                   H.  Resignation (action item): 

                            1.     Sandra Althaus, MD (Radiology) – effective 1/14/19  

                    I.   Updated Core Privilege Forms (action items): 

                            1.     Family Medicine 

                            2.     Obstetrics and Gynecology  

4.   New Business 

      A.  Strategic Plan update, Finance and Market Share Committee report (information item). 

3



Page, 3, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, March 20, 2019 

 

 

3/18/2019, 9:02 AM 

      B.  Approval of NIHD Foundation Board members Tawny Thomson and Corrina Korpi 

            (action item). 

      C.  Joint Commission Accreditation report (information item). 

      D.  Chief Executive Officer report (information item).  

      E.  Community Health Needs Assessment update (information item). 

      F.  Approval of Pioneer Home Health annual budget (action item). 

      G. Strategic and Fiscal Strategy Review (information item). 

      H. Chief Operating Officer report (information item). 

      I.  Chief Nursing Officer report (information item).  

      J.  Chief Financial Officer report (information item). 

      K.  District Board Resolution 19-03, designation of Benefits and Compensation account  

            representatives (action item).  

      L.  Discuss dates for Strategic Planning session (discussion item). 

      M. Discussion of components for legal RFP process (discussion item). 

      5.   Old Business 

            A.  Chief of Staff Job Description and stipend change approval (action item). 

            B.  Chief Physician Quality Officer Job Description and stipend approval (action item). 

C.  Athena implementation update (information item). 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

                                                     Consent Agenda (action items) 

      6.   Approval of minutes of the January 28 2019 special meeting 

 7.    Approval of minutes of the February 20 2019 regular meeting 

8.  Policy and Procedure annual approvals  

9. Acceptance of Pioneer Home Health Designation of Affiliated Covered Entity 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

     10.  Reports from Board members (information items). 

    11. Adjournment to closed session to/for:  

            A.  Public employee performance evaluation, Chief Executive Officer (pursuant to Government  

                  Code Section 54957). 

            B.  Conference with Legal Counsel regarding anticipated litigation or significant exposure to  

                  litigation (pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(b)), 2 potential cases.  

C.  Conference with Legal Counsel regarding existing litigation, Inyo County Local Agency  

4



Page, 4, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, March 20, 2019 

 

 

3/18/2019, 9:02 AM 

      Formation Commission and Northern Inyo Healthcare District v. Southern Mono Healthcare  

      District (pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9). 

D.   Discuss trade secrets, new programs and services (estimated public session date for  

 discussion yet to be determined) (Health and Safety Code Section 32106).  

F. Conference with Labor Negotiators; Agency Designated Representative: Irma Moisa;  

Employee Organization: AFSCME Council 57 (pursuant to Government Code Section 

54957.6). 

     12.  Return to open session and report of any action taken in closed session.  

     13.  Adjournment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you require special accommodations to 

participate in a District Board meeting, please contact administration at (760) 873-2838 at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting. 

5



 

 

 

TO:  NIHD Board of Directors 

FROM: Allison Robinson, MD, Chief of Medical Staff 

DATE:  March 5, 2019 

RE:  Medical Executive Committee Report 

 

The Medical Executive Committee met on this date. Following careful review and consideration, the 

Committee agreed to recommend the following to the NIHD Board of Directors: 

 

A. Policies and Procedures (action items) 

1. Preoperative Medication Guidelines 

2. Newborn Screening Test 

B. Annual Reviews (action items) 

1. Utilization Review Plan 

2. Utilization Review Critical Indicators 2019 

3. Radiology Critical Indicators 2019 

4. MRI Safety Policies 

i. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety – Magnet Room 

ii. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety Burn/Thermal Incident Reduction 

iii. Diagnostic Imaging – MRI Safety, Ear Protection 

5. Radiation Safety Policies 

i. Diagnostic Imaging – Handling of Radioactive Packages, Non-nuclear medicine 

personnel 

ii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Hot Lab Security 

iii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Materials Delivery After-hours 

iv. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Waste Storage and Disposal 

v. Diagnostic Imaging – Disposal of Radioactive Sharps 

vi. Diagnostic Imaging – Nuclear Medicine New Employee/Annual Orientation 

vii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Spills 

viii. ALARA Program 

ix. Diagnostic Imaging – C-Arm (Fluoroscope) Radiation Safety 

C. Medical Staff Appointments (action items) 

1. Anu Agarwal, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

2. Abhilash Akinapelli, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

3. Jake Ichino, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

4. Thomas-Duythuc To, MD (Renown Cardiology) – Telemedicine Staff 

5. Jeannie Pflum, DO (Obstetrics & Gynecology) – Consulting Staff 

 

D. Temporary Privileges (action items) 

1. Muhammad Gill, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

2. Joseph BenPerlas, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

3. Bonnie Rashid, MD (Internal Medicine) – Locums/Temporary Staff 

NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California  93514 

          Medical Staff Office 

    (760) 873-2136     voice 

     (760) 873-2130     fax 

      

6



 

 

E. Telemedicine Privileges – Credentialing by Proxy (action item) 

As per the approved Telemedicine Physician Credentialing and Privileging Agreement, and as 

outlined and allowed by 42CFR 482.22, the Medical Staff have chosen to recommend the 

following practitioners for Telemedicine privileges relying upon Adventist Health’s credentialing 

and privileging decisions. 

1. Arin Aboulian, MD (Pulmonology) – Glendale Adventist Telemedicine Staff.  

 

F. Reappointment to New Staff Category (action item) 

1. Taema Weiss, MD (Family Medicine) – recommended staff category change from Active 

Staff to Consulting Staff without clinical privileges.  

 

G. Advancements (action item) 

The following medical staff members have satisfactorily completed their introductory focused 

professional practice evaluations and have been recommended to advance from provisional staff 

in the category listed. 

1. John Adam Hawkins, DO (Emergency Medicine) – advancement to Active Staff 

H. Resignations (action item) 

1. Sandra Althaus, MD (Radiology) – effective 1/14/19 

 

I. Updated Core Privilege Forms (action items) 

1. Family Medicine 

2. Obstetrics and Gynecology 

7



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Preoperative Medication Guidelines 
Scope: OP/PACU Manual:  Anesthesia, PACU, Surgery 
Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 2/98 
 
This is a guideline for reference during the preoperative phone call and should not take the 

place of the critical conversation between the patient and the physician 
 
Medications the patient should take the morning of surgery before coming to the hospital 
with a small sip of water: 
 Heart or blood pressure medications that are not diuretics or combination diuretics that he/she normally 

takes in the morning (see below for exceptions) 
 Anti-seizure or anti-psychotic medications that he/she normally takes in the morning 
 Inhalers that he/she normally takes in the morning 
 H2 receptor antagonists and proton pump inhibitors  
 All medication patches should remain on the patient.  
 Medications considered necessary by the patient may be taken (i.e.thyroid medication) as long as 

it isn’t contraindicated (i.e.insulin). 
 
Medications that should not be taken: 
 Anti-hyperglycemics (oral or insulin) 
 Anticoagulants or NSAIDs   
 Diuretics or combination diuretic products  
 Erectile dysfunction drugs (unless taken for pulmonary hypertension). 
 ACE (Angiotensin Converting Enzyme) Inhibitors and ARBs (Angiotensin Receptor Blockers) for any 

patient that may receive a general anesthetic. 
 Digoxin (not contraindicated but is unnecessary because it is long-lasting.) 

 
Any questionable medication should be checked with the anesthesia provider 
 Patients should be asked to bring a list of their usual medications to the hospital the morning of their 

surgery if they are unsure of their medications at the time of the preoperative interview. 
 The patient can take his/her medication at home after discharge per physician discharge orders. 

 
DOCUMENTATION: Complete the appropriate sections of the Preoperative Interview in the electronic health 
record and the Surgical Checklist  
 
REFERENCES: 

1.  TJC Standards PC 02.03.01, PC 03.01.03, CA Code of Regulations 
2. Title 22 Standard 70215 (c), (d) 
3. ASPAN 2012-2014 Perianesthesia Nursing Standards, Practice Recommendations, and Interpretive 

Statements: Standard VI: Nursing Process 
 
 
 
CROSS REFERENCE P&P: Preoperative Interview; Preoperative Preparation and Teaching 
 
 
 
 

8



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Preoperative Medication Guidelines 
Scope: OP/PACU Manual:  Anesthesia, PACU, Surgery 
Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 2/98 

Approval Date 
CCOC 7/16/18 
STTA 1/23/19 
Pharmacy & Therapeutics 
MEC 
Board  of Directors 
Last Board of Directors Review 1/18/17 

Developed:  
Reviewed: 4/11 AW, 05/11AW, 9/12 AW 
Revised: 1/98, 1/29/01, 9/08, 7/18, 1/19 
Supersedes: Preoperative Medications 
Index Listings: Medication Guidelines, Preoperative / Preoperative Medication Guidelines 

2/21/19
3/5/19

9



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Newborn Screening Test 
Scope:  Manual:  OB/Gyn 
Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date: 
 

 1 

PURPOSE:  
To screen all neonates for inborn errors of metabolism according to California State regulations. 
To insure all results are obtained and placed in the medical record. 
 
POLICY:  
1. Newborn screening tests will be performed on all neonates according to the California Newborn Screening 

Program guidelines, and shall occur after 12 hours but no later than 48 hours of age.  Screening is to be done 
prior to discharge or transfer of the newborn unless the newborn condition is life threatening and the 
collection cannot be safely done.  
 

2. NIH staff will provide all patients with a current copy of the program pamphlet “Important Information for 
Parents About the Newborn Screening Test” 

 
3. Newborn screening test will be collected before any red blood cell transfusion.  In the event that a 

transfusion becomes necessary and the specimen is collected before 12 hours of life – collect a second 
specimen 24 hours after the end of the last PRBC transfusion and prior to 48 hours of life if the hemoglobin 
and hematocrit are > than 10 and 30, respectively.  If the specimen was not collected before the transfusion 
collect a post transfusion specimen 24 hours after the end of the last PRBC transfusion if the hemoglobin 
and hematocrit are > than 10 and 30, respectively. 

 
4. In cases of early discharge (before 12 hours of age) an initial test will be run and arrangements will be made 

to return for a second test before 48 hours of life.  In addition, the nurse will fill out the “Newborn 
Screening for Babies Leaving the Hospital Prior to 12 Hours of Age” form. 

 
5. Infants not tested or transferred to tertiary care center prior to newborn screening test being done must have 

documentation on the chart.  The nursery nurse (or ward clerk) will be responsible for completing the 
“specimen not obtained” section on the Newborn Screen Test Request Form.  Send completed form to the 
newborn screening lab for processing. 

 
6. Newborn not born at the hospital:  Collect NBS within 48 hours of admission. 

 
7. Critically ill newborns should have testing postponed until the newborn is stable. 
 
8. When parents refuse to have their newborn tested the nurse will: 
 

a. Have them read the newborn screening brochure and discuss the importance of early detection and 
treatment in prevention of disabilities.  
 
If the parent continues to refuse the test, fill out the “specimen not obtained”: “parent refusal” 
section of the Newborn Screen Test Request form.  Have parent sign the refusal signature.  Send 
form to the Newborn Screening Lab. 

 
b. Notify the infant’s physician that the parents refused the Newborn Screening and signed the parental 

refusal.  

10



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Newborn Screening Test 
Scope:  Manual:  OB/Gyn 
Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date: 
 

 2 

9.  A newborn not born in hospital but admitted or transferred to the hospital within the first six days of age 
should have their newborn screen collected within 48 hours of admission. 

10.  When infant is born at home prior to admission to the hospital the form titled “Notification of Registration 
of Birth Which Occurred Out of a Licensed Health Facility(NBS-OH)” is filled out and sent to: 

 
California Department of Health Services 
Newborn Screening Section 
850 Marina Bay Parkway, F175 
Richmond, Ca. 94804 

 
a. Do the newborn screening test according to policy.   

 
 

11. Designated personnel (unit clerk) will log in to the Online Specimen Tracking System at 7 days after 
newborns date of birth to verify that the specimen has been received.  If specimen cannot be verified as 
having been received, unit clerk must notify the Newborn Screening Department  

  
12.  Repeat test due to inadequate specimens will be done in the nursery at no charge to the patient 

 
 
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  
 
Physician order not required 
Procedure may be performed by: RN, LVN 
Special education required to perform procedure: Yes 
Age specific considerations:  Inherent in procedure. 
 

PRECAUTIONS: 
 

1. California law (Title, XVII, California Administrative Code) states that all newborns must have a 
blood specimen taken before discharge from the newborn nursery. This test screens for specific 
diseases in the following groups:  Metabolic, Endocrine, Hemoglobin and other genetic diseases. 
These are all required by law and performed on the same specimen. 

 
2. The infant's heel should be warmed with a warm wet washcloth or diaper prior to testing. 

 
3. The infant should be kept warm, by swaddling during the procedure.  Infants should be removed 

from a radiant warmer during the procedure, as the artificial heat/drying effects of the warmer can 
alter test results. 

 
4. Use the “tenderfoot” automated heel incisor to assure heel punctures no deeper than 1.0 mm in 

depth. 
 

5. Avoid use of undue pressure that may cause excessive bruising.  
 

11



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Newborn Screening Test 
Scope:  Manual:  OB/Gyn 
Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date: 
 

 3 

 
PROCEDURE:  
 

1. Complete all information on the "Specimen Collection Form for Newborn Screening Tests”. 
 

2. If the mother doesn’t have a social security number, fill in the social security number as 999-99-
9999. 

 
3. When appropriate, place the MediCal number, BIC (Benefits Identification Card, or PE 

(Presumptive Eligibility) number or sticker on the Newborn Screening Specimen Collection Form, 
located in the lower left hand corner of the form’s Demographic page. 

4. Place the goldenrod copy of the form on a lab report sheet in the infant’s chart. 
 

5. Cleanse the warmed heel with an alcohol wipe, wipe dry with a sterile dry gauze sponge and allow 
to air dry. 

 
6. Gently grasp the infant’s foot controlling the foot, but allowing adequate circulation. 

 
7. Use the tenderfoot incision-making devise to puncture an outer aspect of the infant’s heel.  Use the 

dry sterile gauze sponge to wipe away the first drop of blood. 
 

8. Coax a large drop of blood from the puncture site.  Touch the blood drop, but not the heel to the 
newborn screening form circle center.  Avoid excessive squeezing of the puncture site.  Fill all five 
circles on the card completely from one side of the filter paper.  Refer to “Neonatal Screening Blood 
Specimen Collection and Handling Procedure” for complete review and specific instructions as to 
location of puncture site and correct collection technique. 

 
9. When procedure is complete, cover the puncture site with a spot Band-Aid and return the infant to 

the crib. 
 

10. Place the specimen Collection Form in the drying rack for ~3 hours or until completely dry (blood 
has turned brown).  Do not wait and batch specimens for mailing.  All specimens should be sent 
within 12 hours of collecting when possible.   

 
11. Complete the Transport Log sheet.  Send the original log sheet and the tests done and dried in the 

provided envelope.  The yellow copy of the Transport Log goes in the manila folder in the Nursery. 
 

12. In the event of an inadequate specimen, NBS will notify us to redraw the specimen.  They will fax 
the initial sheet to us with the stated problem.  We should contact the patient to have them return to 
NIH for a repeat draw.  This is done in the nursery as an outpatient procedure without an attached 
charge.  The Attending MD is also notified so contact can be made.   

 
13. At times results of testing require further blood work.  This will be completed in the laboratory as 

outpatient testing.   
 

12



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Newborn Screening Test 
Scope:  Manual:  OB/Gyn 
Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date: 
 

 4 

For any questions please call:    Newborn Screening  - ASC 96 
                                         CHCC 

 Madera, California 

 Phone: 559/353-6416 
 Fax: 559/353-6403 
 
DOCUMENTATION:  
 

1. As noted above in procedure. 
 

2. All results will be sent to the Perinatal Unit Nurse Manager.  The results will be entered in the 
Nursery Log and then forwarded to the Medical Records Department for posting in the infant's chart. 

 
3. The infant should be charged for “NBS Draw/Handling” and “Newborn Screening” on the charge 

sheet.   
Committee(s) approval needed: NO 
Responsibility for review and maintenance: Perinatal Unit Nurse Manager 
Index Listings: Newborn Screening Test 
Revised: 6/92; 11/97; 06/01, 09/08, 11/08jk, 9/2010jk, 2/2012jk 
Last Board of Director review3/21/18 
 
 
Approval Date 
CCOC  
Perinatal-Pediatrics Committee 2/15/19 
Medical Executive Committee  3/5/19 
Board of Directors  
Last Board of Directors Review  
 
Revised: 
Reviewed: 

13



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Utilization Review Plan* 
Scope: Hospital Wide Manual: Case Management, Utilization Review 
Source: DON Nursing Practice Effective Date: 7/1/15  

1 

PURPOSE:  
The purpose of this plan is to identify the elements of a comprehensive utilization review management plan 
which is necessary to satisfy Medicare Conditions of Participation. This plan is coordinated to support Northern 
Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) mission and vision by collecting and reviewing data that assures the 
appropriate allocation of hospital resources and specifically monitoring the necessity for appropriateness of 
hospitalization extended length of stay and the quality of this interaction. This plan provides framework for 
addressing under and over utilization of resources as well as the review of treatment to determine that the care 
provided meets professionally recognized standards of care. 

POLICY: 
1. Northern Inyo Hospital’s (NIH’s) UR plan applies to all patients regardless of payment source and all

admissions are reviewed in accordance with federal and state regulations governing Utilization review.
2. Findings and recommendations of the Utilization Review Committee are reported to the Medical

Executive Committee. Additional issues can be referred to Billing Coding Compliance Committee.
3. The UR plan shall be reviewed and evaluated by the Utilization Review Committee and the Medical

Executive Committee at least once a year and revised as needed.

DEFINITIONS: 
1. Utilization Management Plan means the organizational plan that contains the essential requirements

for the establishment and implementation of a utilization management process to ensure the quality,
appropriateness and efficiency of care and resources furnished by the facility and medical staff. The
purpose of this plan is to ensure that patients at Northern Inyo Hospital receive medically necessary and
appropriate care at the appropriate time and in the appropriate setting.

2. INTERQUAL Criteria means clinical decision support guidelines licensed for use by hospitals to
evaluate the appropriateness of medical interventions and level of care based on clinical criteria and
standards.

3. Secondary Review means a clinical review performed by a physician member of the Utilization Review
Committee or a Physician Advisor when INTERQUAL guidelines suggest a different patient status or
level of care than that ordered by the patient’s Physician and/or a potential quality concern.

PROCEDURE: 
Overview: 

A developed plan that contains 
• Delineation of responsibilities and authority of personnel for conducting internal

utilization review.
• Establishes procedures to review the medical necessity of admissions, extended stays,

and professional services, and appropriateness of settings.
• Establish procedures for coverage determinations, denials, appeals, and peer review

within the organization.
• Establishes reporting, corrective action and documentation requirements for the

utilization management process.

14



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Utilization Review Plan* 
Scope: Hospital Wide Manual: Case Management, Utilization Review 
Source: DON Nursing Practice Effective Date: 7/1/15  

2 

Plan Requirements 
• Commitment and cooperation from the hospital administration and Medical/Hospital

staff.
• Objective Review Criteria
• Maintenance of appropriate data
• Integration of UR findings into quality improvement activities
• Patient record access appropriate for Utilization review

Composition – See Medical Staff bylaws 
• The Utilization Review committee is a standing committee of the medical staff and is

responsible to the Medical Staff Executive Committee. The committee shall be comprised
of two or more physicians and other practitioners to perform the utilization management
function. The other members may be any of the other types of practitioners specified in
482.12(c) (1). The Utilization Review and Medical Records Committee shall consist of at
least 4 active staff members selected on a basis that will ensure insofar as feasible,
representation of the services and the major clinical specialties which are routinely
practiced by Practitioners at Northern Inyo Hospital.

o The Quality Improvement Coordinator, the Utilization Review/Infection Control
Coordinator, the Director of Nursing, Billing Department Supervisor, Director of
Medical Records, DRG Coordinator, the Hospital’s Patient Representative, and
Social Service Director shall serve as Ex Officio non-voting members.

• The UR committee may be supported by representatives from Case Management and
Administration, but only physicians and other practitioners are members for regulatory
purposes.

• No person with a direct financial interest may participate in reviews conducted by the
Committee.

Meetings 
• The UR committee shall meet as a separate and distinct committee with its own agenda

and minutes. The committee shall meet as often as necessary to accomplish primary
functions, but no fewer that quarterly.

• Committee minutes shall be maintained according to hospital policy and include the
date/time of the meeting, attendees, standard reports, action item follow-up, focused
reviews, audits, and action to be taken. The minutes shall exclude patient or physician
names from charts reviews.

Standard Reports 
• Length of Stay
• Avoidable Days
• Appeal Outcomes
• Denials
• INTERQUAL review results (Cases or number of days that do not satisfy criteria for

admission, continued stay and/or level care, and secondary reviews results)
• # of Admission Hospital Issued Notice of Non-coverage (HINN) letters issued

15



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Utilization Review Plan* 
Scope: Hospital Wide Manual: Case Management, Utilization Review 
Source: DON Nursing Practice Effective Date: 7/1/15  

3 

• Observation information, including the number of observation stays converted to
inpatient, average length of stay (hours) and the number exceeding 48 hours.

• Condition Code 44

Authority and Responsibility 

 UR (Case Management) Committee Chair
 Assigns responsibility for medical necessity secondary review process
 Evaluates the effectiveness of utilization management activities
 Reports evaluation results and/or issues to appropriate committees.

 Utilization Review Committee
 Provides oversight to assure that health care furnished at Northern Inyo Hospital is

consistent with professionally recognized quality standards.
 Provides oversight to assure consistently appropriate and medically necessary

treatment for patients.
 Evaluates and acts upon peer review information related to medical necessity,

appropriateness of treatment and quality of care.
 Provides for confidentiality of the peer review process and findings.
 Provides focused review and reporting mechanisms or identified utilization

management problems
 Arrange for two or more appropriate practitioners to perform UR functions
 Schedule meetings with appropriate minutes and committee activity.
 Provides annual review, evaluation and approval of the plan by both the UR and

Medical Executive Committee.
 Duties: The Utilization Review and Medical Records Committee shall perform the

following functions:
• Delineate the scope of utilization review provided within the hospital
• Develop critical indicators to be used as screening devices in reviewing the

utilization of Hospital Services.
• Establish thresholds used to trigger physician review.
• After cases have been isolated using the critical indicators, evaluate the quality

and appropriateness of care administered and identify areas for improvement.
• Review patient care services to ascertain if quality care within the standards of the

Hospital and Medical Staff is being provided in the most cost-effective manner,
address overutilization, underutilization, and inefficient scheduling of care and
resources.

 Case Management Staff
 Director: The Director of Case Management, under the direction of the Utilization

Review Committee, has responsibility for the following activities:
• Delegates responsibilities to appropriate personnel to ensure coverage for

determining appropriate patient status.
• Provides guidance to the medical staff and hospital personnel regarding medical

necessity criteria and appropriate service determinations

16



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Utilization Review Plan* 
Scope: Hospital Wide Manual: Case Management, Utilization Review 
Source: DON Nursing Practice Effective Date: 7/1/15  

4 

• The process of measuring and assessing the use of professional care, services,
procedures, and facilities, including the medical necessity and appropriateness  of:
♦ Necessity of admission
♦ Level of care
♦ Appropriate utilization of resources
♦ Continued stay
♦ Discharge/post hospital referrals
♦ Readmissions
♦ Performance improvement team activities to improve systems and processes

associated with inefficient or inappropriate delivery of care and services.
 Case Manager:

• Reviews medical record documentation to obtain information necessary for UR
determinations

• Screens patients from time of admission for potential discharge and aftercare
needs

• Applies utilization review criteria objectively regarding level of care using
INTERQUAL guidelines on all admissions and continued stays regardless of
payer.

• Reviews all continued stays and addresses all concerns with attending
physician/hospitalist

• If admission criteria are not satisfied, the reviewer shall contact the attending
physician for additional information. If additional information is provided to
support the admission satisfies admission criteria, the admission shall be
approved.
♦ If additional information is not provided or the case still fails to satisfy

admission criteria, an alternate level of care (ALOC) shall be discussed with
the attending physician. If the attending physician agrees that an ALOC is
appropriate, the Case Manager shall facilitate the transfer. If the attending
does not agree to transfer to an ALOC, the case shall be referred for secondary
review.

♦ Secondary Review Process
 When an admission or continued stay case is referred by the Case Manager to a

member of the committee for secondary review, the reviewer shall review the case
based on the documentation in the medical record and discussions with the attending
physician in order to determine medical judgment. Secondary review determinations
shall be documented and supported with clinical rationale.

 If the physician member of the UR committee determines that an admission or a
continued stay is not medically necessary, the Case Manager will be contacted and
provided instructions on the appropriate level of care. Any determination to transfer a
patient from the inpatient level of care to the observation level of care resulting from
the secondary review process must involve a physician of the UR committee and
must also comply with the requirements of Condition Code 44.

 If the UR committee or designee decides that continued stay in the hospital is not
medically necessary, the designee must give written notification to the hospital, the

17



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Utilization Review Plan* 
Scope: Hospital Wide Manual: Case Management, Utilization Review 
Source: DON Nursing Practice Effective Date: 7/1/15  

5 

patient, and the practitioner responsible for the care no later than two (2) days after 
the determination. (See Utilization Review Plan*) 

REFERENCES: 
1. A-0308

a. §482.30 Condition of Participation: Utilization Review
2. A-309

a. §482.30(a) Standard: Applicability
3. A-0310

a. §482.30(b) Standard: Composition of Utilization Review Committee
4. A-0311

a. §482.30(c) Standard: Scope and Frequency of Review
5. A-3012

a. §482.30(d) Standard: Determination Regarding Admissions or Continued 
Stays

6. A-0313
a. §482.30(e) Standard: Extended Stay Review

7. A-0314
a. §482.30(f) Standard: Review of Professional Services

8. TENET Utilization Management Plan

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 
1. Utilization Review Plan*
2. Discharge Planning

Approval Date 
UR Committee 2/28/19 
MEC 3/5/19 
Board of Directors 
Last Board of Director review 4/18/18 
Developed: 2/15 
Reviewed: 12/1/2017 
Revised:  11/2016, 12/2016 
Supersedes: 
Index Listings: 

18



Approvals: 

UR Committee: 2/28/19 
Medical Executive Committee: 3/5/19 
Board of Directors:  

Utilization Review Critical Indicators 

2019 

1. Discharge Disputes
2. Status Issues
3. Placement issues
4. Denials

a. Swing Bed Denials
b. Social Admission Denials
c. SNF Denials

5. Untimely Records Completions

19



Radiology Services Committee 

Critical Indicators 

2019 

1. Death within 24 hours of invasive procedure.

2. Admission to ED within 24 hours of invasive procedure.

3. Severe contrast reaction.

4. Code Blue in the department

5. Patient called back for having wrong procedure performed.

6. Staff concerns with breach of protocols.

Approvals 

Radiology Services Committee: 2/19/19 

MEC: 3/5/19

BOD: 

20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



 
Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff 

Clinical Privilege Request Form 
 
 

     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 
Please Print 

Family Medicine  1 
Rev.11/6/18 

Appointment cycle ________________ 
(Office use only) 

 

FAMILY MEDICINE 
Instructions: Please check box next to each core privilege/special privilege requested.   

 

INITIAL CRITERIA 
Education/Formal Training:  
• Completed accredited residency training in family medicine. 
• Board Certified/Board Eligible by the American Board of Family Medicine OR equivalent (AOA). 

OUTPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 
**Current BLS or ACLS required**  

• Assess, evaluate, stabilize and/or provide treatment to patients of any age who present to the outpatient environment with 
any illness, condition or symptom. 

• Evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult, and provide non-surgical treatment to a patient of any age. 

Primary Care 
 Incision and drainage of abscess, excluding peri-rectal 
 Allergy immunotherapy 
 Anoscopy 
 Arthrocentesis/joint injections 
 Incision and drainage of Bartholin’s cyst/abscess 
 Bladder catheterization 
 Bone marrow aspiration/biopsy 
 Burn management, 1st and 2nd degree 
 Aspiration of breast cyst 
 Application of cast/splint 
 Cancer chemotherapy(in consultation with oncologist) 
 Cerumen impaction removal 
 Cervical dilation (mechanical) 
 Removal of cervical polyps, simple 
 Circumcision with clamp, pediatric only 
 Colposcopy, with or without cervical biopsy 
 Cryotherapy, skin 
 Cryotherapy, cervix 
 Dermoscopy 
 Endometrial biopsy 
 Flexible sigmoidoscopy 
 

 

Foreign body removal (skin, superficial 
corneal/conjunctival, nose and ear) 

 Ganglion cyst aspiration/injection 
 Incision of thrombosed external hemorrhoid, simple 

 Insertion/removal of implanted contraceptive device 
(eg, Nexplanon) 

 Insertion/removal of intrauterine device (IUD) 
 Laceration repair, simple  
 Lumbar puncture 

 
 

Primary Care (continued) 
 

 

Microscopic examination  (urine, vaginal wet mount 
and skin preparations) 

 Myringotomy/tympanocentesis 
 Nail removal 
 Paracervical block 
 Pessary placement 
 Digital nerve/ring block anesthesia 
 Injection sclerotherapy (telangectases only) 
 Skin biopsy (excisional, shave, or punch) 
 Soft tissue injections/trigger point injections 
 Drainage of subungual hematoma 
 Tonometry 
 Tympanometry 
 Application of Unna paste boot 
 Vasectomy 
 Uncomplicated wound debridement 

 

Obstetrics/Gynecology 
 Endocervical curettage 
 Vulvar/vaginal biopsy 
 Abdominal/transvaginal OB/GYN ultrasonography 
 Saline infusion hysterosonography 

 

Physical Examinations 
 Pre-employment physicals 
 

 

Commercial driving medical exams (DOT Medical 
Examiner’s Certificate required) 

 Disability evaluations 
 

 

Independent medical evaluations (Workman’s 
Compensation) 

 Return to work evaluations 
 

ADULT INPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 
Requires inpatient experience within the last 2 years, current ACLS certification, and recommendation by Hospitalist Director. 

 

 Admit, evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult and provide nonsurgical treatment to adult patients presenting with 
general medical problems. 

 Admit, evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult and provide nonsurgical treatment to adult patients presenting with 
critical illnesses, needing ICU care. 

 Ventilator management. 
 

51



 
Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff 

Clinical Privilege Request Form 
 
 

     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 
Please Print 

Family Medicine  2 
Rev.11/6/18 

Appointment cycle ________________ 
(Office use only) 

SPECIAL PRIVILEGES 
All require experience within last 2 years 

 
 

Well newborn care/admit to nursery (NRP required, 
STABLE preferred; approval by Chief of Pediatrics) 

 
 

 

Pediatric consultation and admission (advanced 
experience managing peds/newborns; PALS & NRP 
required; approval by Chief of Pediatrics) 

 
 

Conscious sedation (requires tutorial and current 
ACLS certificate per Procedural Sedation policy) 

 
 

Surgical first assist (requires experience in last 2 years 
and recommendation by Chief of Surgery) 

 

Special Privileges in Obstetrics: require experience in last 
2 years and recommendation by Chief of OB/GYN 

 Vaginal delivery; spontaneous 
 Vacuum-assisted vaginal delivery 
 

 
Episiotomy and repair of vaginal lacerations (1st and 
2nd degree only; 3rd/4th degree must consult OB) 

 Manual extraction of the placenta 
 FSE application/IUPC insertion 
 Induction of labor/cervical ripening 

 

 
Acknowledgment of Practitioner: 
I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, health status, current experience and 
demonstrated performance I am qualified to perform and for which I wish to exercise and I understand that: 
 
(a) In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by any Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations, and policies and procedures applicable. 
(b) Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________          __________________ 
Practitioner Signature                         Date 

 
APPROVALS 

COMMENTS/MODIFICATIONS TO REQUESTED PRIVILEGES: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
_____________________________________________ 
RHC/Outpatient Clinic Medical Director               Date 

 
____________________________________________ 
Chief of Medicine                                                   Date 

 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Chief of Pediatrics                                                   Date 

 
 
____________________________________________ 
Chief of Surgery                                                     Date 

 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Chief of Obstetrics                                                  Date 

 
 
____________________________________________ 
Hospitalist Director                                                 Date 

 
 

Approvals Committee Date 
Credentials Committee  
Medical Executive Committee  
Board of Directors  

(Office use only) 

 

52



 
Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff 

Clinical Privilege Request Form 
 
 

     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 
Please Print 

Obstetrics & Gynecology  1 
Rev.09/26/2018 

Appointment cycle ________________ 
(Office use only) 

 
OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY 

 
Instructions: Please check box next to each core privilege/special privilege requested. 

Draw a line through and initial next to any core privilege NOT requested. 
 

INITIAL CRITERIA 
Education/Formal Training:  
• Completed accredited residency training in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 
• Board Certified/Board Eligible by the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology or equivalent. 
• All practitioners requesting privileges to manage and attend births in Labor and Deliver at Northern Inyo Hospital will complete the 

appropriate BETA (Quest for Zero: Excellence in OB) requirements and will comply with NICHD terminology in the OB setting.  

INPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 

Request • Admit, evaluate, diagnose, consult, perform H&P, and manage the care of female patients in any condition or 
stage of pregnancy who present to the hospital or Emergency Department.  

• Admit, evaluate, diagnose, consult, perform H&P, and provide pre-operative, intra-operative and post-operative 
care for management of female patients presenting with illness, injury, disorders of the gynecologic or 
genitourinary system. 

• Vaginal delivery 
• Hysterectomy 
• Cesarean section 
• Cesarean hysterectomy 
• Diagnostic cystoscopy 
• Diagnostic and operative hysteroscopy 
• Diagnostic and operative laparoscopy 
• Diagnostic and operative laparotomy 
• Adnexal surgery 
• Ultrasound 
• Suburethral slings 

 

OUTPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 
**Current BLS or ACLS required** 

Request • Assess, evaluate, diagnose, consult, perform H&P, and manage the care of female patients in any condition or 
stage of pregnancy or with illness, injury, or disorders of the gynecologic or genitourinary system who present to 
the outpatient clinic. 
 

 

SPECIAL PRIVILEGES 
(requires experience within the last 2 years) 

 Circumcision with clamp, pediatric only 
 Robotic Surgery (per Robotic credentialing policy) 
 Complex robotic gyn procedures (sacrolcolpopexy) 

 

 
 

Insertion/removal of implanted contraceptive device 
(e.g. Nexplanon) 

 Cervical cerclage  
 

CONSULTING PRIVILEGES 
(for Consulting Staff only) 

Request • Provide consultation, order, interpret, and evaluate diagnostic tests to identify and assess patients’ clinical 
problems and health care needs on request from Active or Provisional Staff members or Temporary Privileges 
Practitioners.   

 

 
Please sign acknowledgment on next page. 

 
 
 
 
 

53



Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff
Clinical Privilege Request Form 

     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 
Please Print 

Obstetrics & Gynecology 2 
Rev.09/26/2018 

Appointment cycle ________________ 
(Office use only) 

Acknowledgment of Practitioner: 
I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, health status, current experience and 
demonstrated performance I am qualified to perform and for which I wish to exercise and I understand that: 

(a) In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by any Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and 
Regulations, and policies and procedures applicable. 

(b) Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 
my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 

______________________________________________________________________      __________________ 
Practitioner Signature        Date 

APPROVALS 

COMMENTS/MODIFICATIONS TO REQUESTED PRIVILEGES: 

______________________________________________________________________      __________________ 
Chief of Obstetrics       Date 

______________________________________________________________________      __________________ 
Chief of Surgery        Date 

Approvals Committee Date 
Credentials Committee 
Medical Executive Committee 
Board of Directors 

(Office use only) 

54



Accreditation Data Update:

Critical Access Hospital Program

June 2018

55



2

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Introduction

 This critical access hospital program data update will be provided on a 
regular basis to all accredited hospitals.

 This initial report includes results from onsite critical access hospital 
surveys that were conducted between the timeframe of 6/1/17 through 
5/31/18.

▪ These surveys include initial and re-accreditation surveys only, and 
exclude any mid-cycle surveys such as extension, CMS follow-up, and/or 
complaint surveys.

 Accreditation programs are reviewed for non-compliance by 
surveyors for each element of performance (EP).  This report focuses 
on the most frequently cited Standards and EPs for the critical access 
hospital program, and includes examples of non-compliance.  This 
report also includes SAFER™ distributions.

56



SAFER™

57



4

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Survey Analysis for Evaluating 

Risk™ (SAFER™)

 A transformative approach for identifying and 
communicating risk levels associated with 
deficiencies cited during surveys 

 Helps organizations prioritize and focus corrective 
actions

 Provides one, comprehensive visual representation 
of survey findings

 Implemented: January 2017

58



5

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Aggregate SAFER Data

Immediate Threat to Life
0.34%

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 t
o

 H
ar

m
a 

P
at

ie
n

t/
St

af
f/

V
is

it
o

r

HIGH 1.51% 1.23% 1.54% 4.28% 

MODERATE 14.19% 11.30% 4.74% 30.22% 

LOW 47.09% 14.62% 3.45% 65.16% 

62.79% 27.15% 9.73% 

LIMITED PATTERN WIDESPREAD

Scope

Critical Access Hospital Requirement for Improvement(RFI) Distribution 
For Full and Initial survey from 06/01/2017 through 05/31/2018 (n=139)

59



6

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Average Number of Requirements 

for Improvements (RFIs)

06/01/2017 – 05/31/2018  Average number of RFIs
For Critical Access Hospital Programs (n=139)

23.37

60



Most Frequently Cited Elements of 

Performance (EPs)

61



8

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited Clinical* 

Elements of Performance (EPs)

*Clinical EPs include all chapters in the Critical Access Hospital Accreditation manual except for the 
Environment of Care and Life Safety Code Chapters.

62



9

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited Clinical EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)

IC.02.02.01, EP 2 - The critical access hospital implements infection 
prevention and control activities when doing the following: Performing 
intermediate and high-level disinfection and sterilization of medical 
equipment, devices, and supplies.

 Instruments soaking in a sink used for hand hygiene

 Staff not following process for high-level disinfection

 Reusable and disposable Laryngeal Masks being used. The reusable LMA's 
have a limited 40 uses or 1 year reprocessing limit according to the 
manufacturer Laryngeal Mask Company. Staff were unaware of the 
manufacturer's recommendation and were not monitoring the reprocessing of 
the LMA’s.

 Scope Buddy used in the cleaning process for endoscopes was not being 
cleaned at the end of the day per manufacturers recommendations

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

63



10

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited Clinical EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)
IC.02.02.01, EP 4 - The critical access hospital implements infection 
prevention and control activities when doing the following: Storing medical 
equipment, devices, and supplies.

 There was no temperature and/or humidity monitoring in the sub-sterile room, 
which contained sterile instrument trays

 OB delivery room had a mounted vaginal probe that was uncovered during 
storage

 Airway bags that are stored in the hospital owned ambulances contained six 
laryngoscope blades of various sizes and a McGill forceps, which were 
unwrapped and not protected from recontamination

 During a tour of the sterile storage room, it was noted that a rack with sterile 
instruments was stored less than two inches from an external wall.  This is not 
consistent with AAMI guidelines, which the organization has adopted.

 Bronchoscopes were observed hanging bent and the ends upward which did not 
allow proper drying in the cabinet

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

64



11

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EPs – Clinical:

Example Observations*

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

MM.04.01.01 EP 13 - The critical access hospital implements its 
policies for medication orders.

 With PRN medication prescribed, there was no indication for use included 
with the order in accordance with hospital policy

 Therapeutic duplication of drugs for nausea and drugs for pain was made; 
however, there were no instructions by the physician when to give which 
medication

 Written titration order in the record of care did not include a documented 
desired goal or adjustment increments per hospital’s policy

 In review of the record of care it was noted that the patient was ordered two 
different PRN medications for the indication of pain.  There was no 
differentiation of when to give each of the medications, which did not meet 
the hospital’s policy.

65



12

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited Environment of Care 

(EC) and Life Safety (LS) Code* EPs

*Environment of Care and Life Safety Code chapters addresses General life safety design, building construction, and the 
physical environment.  66



13

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EC/LS EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)

EC.02.06.01, EP 1  - Interior spaces meet the needs of the patient 
population and are safe and suitable to the care, treatment, and services 
provided

 The nurse call cord was less than 4 inches from the floor; there was 
no nurse call cord in room 

 In patient room there was a stained ceiling tile and a fluorescent 
light fixture which appeared to have dried leaked material in it

 Behavioral health patients were kept in the Emergency Department 
where there are stretchers with side-rails that had bars which were a 
strangulation risk 

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

67



14

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EC/LS EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)

EC.02.05.01, EP 15 - In critical care areas designed to control airborne 
contaminants (such as biological agents, gases, fumes, dust), the 
ventilation system provides appropriate pressure relationships, air-
exchange rates, filtration efficiencies, and temperature and humidity. 

 The airflow from the OR bio-hazard storage room was positive to the 
OR corridor

 In the sterile processing area and the surgery sterile storage area, 
there were sterile packs stored, and there was no monitoring of 
temperature or humidity in these locations

 Pharmacy had a negative air pressure relationship to the hospital 
corridor

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

68



15

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EC/LS EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)

LS.02.1.35, EP 4 - Approved automatic sprinkler systems piping is not 
used to support any other item.

 A wire was found using the sprinkler pipe as support

 There was low voltage wiring and/or metal flex conduit lying on the 
fire sprinkler piping

 On the ceiling in front of the 2nd floor electrical closet there were 
cables and flexible conduit on the fire main sprinkler pipe

 During ceiling inspection, conduit was observed using the sprinkler 
pipe for support.  Outside nursing station in acute care, 3 wires were 
observed using the sprinkler pipe as support.

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited EPs. Example observations contain 

observations found to be cited anywhere from low-risk to high-risk areas.

69



Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to 

Harm Elements of Performance (EPs)

70



17

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited High 
Likelihood to Harm* Clinical** EPs

*High Likelihood to harm on the SAFER Matrix is defined as harm could happen at any time.  The deficient practice 
could directly lead to harm without the need for other significant circumstances or failures.  If the deficiency 
continues, it would be likely that harm could happen at any time to any patient (or did actually happen).

**Clinical EPs include all chapters in the Critical Access Hospital Accreditation manual except for the Environment of Care 
and Life Safety Code Chapters.

71



18

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to Harm 

Clinical EPs: Example Observations* (cont.)

IC.02.02.01, EP 2 - The critical access hospital implements infection 
prevention and control activities when doing the following: Performing 
intermediate and high-level disinfection and sterilization of medical 
equipment, devices, and supplies.

 There was an Ultrasound machine with mounted cavity probe located in the OB 
department delivery room. Personnel stated the unit was wiped with "Cavi
Wipes", a low-level disinfectant in between patient use.  The device required 
high-level disinfection and there were no procedures in place to perform HLD.

 In the rural clinics it was noticed that the process for pre-cleaning instruments 
used in the clinic did not follow the AAMI guidelines, which the organization 
adopted.  The instruments were being taken from the room to the soiled utility 
room in a paper towel and were then immersed in a mixture of detergent which 
was not mixed according to manufacturer guidelines. 

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  
72



19

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to Harm 

Clinical EPs: Example Observations* (cont.)

IC.02.01.01, EP 1 -The critical access hospital implements its infection 
prevention and control activities, including surveillance, to minimize, 
reduce, or eliminate the risk of infection.

 Ear Nose and Throat clinic had not been involved in the infection 
control surveillance activities related to process for performing high 
level disinfection

 The facility was using sanitizer in the final rinse cycle of the 
dishwasher to provide disinfection.  The sanitizer level was only 
being checked once daily and not at each time the dishwasher was 
drained and refilled for a different meal time washing per 
manufacture's instructions.

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  
73



20

© 2018, The Joint Commission

LD.01.03.01, EP 12 -The critical access hospital has a governing body 
that assumes full legal responsibility for the operation of the critical 
access hospital.

 The governing body/leadership did not ensure that the following 
Conditions of Participation were met as determined through 
observations, documentation, and staff interviews:

√ 485.623 Condition of Participation: Physical Plant and 
Environment;  412.27 Excluded psychiatric units: Additional 
requirements; 485.635; Condition of Participation: Provision of 
Services;485.639 Condition of Participation: Surgical Services; 
485.627(a) Standard: Governing Body or Responsible 
Individual; 485.635 Condition of Participation: Provision of 
Services

Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to Harm 

Clinical EPs: Example Observations* 

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  74



21

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to Harm* 
Environment of Care 

and Life Safety Code** EPs

*High Likelihood to harm on the SAFER Matrix is defined as harm could happen at any time.  The deficient practice could 
directly lead to harm without the need for other significant circumstances or failures.  If the deficiency continues, it would be 
likely that harm could happen at any time to any patient (or did actually happen).

** The Environment of Care and Life Safety Code chapters address general life safety design, building construction, and the 
physical environment. 

75



22

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited High Likelihood to Harm 

EC and LS EPs: Example Observations* (cont.)

EC.02.06.01, EP 1 - Interior spaces meet the needs of the patient 
population and are safe and suitable to the care, treatment, and services 
provided.

 Identified in the hospital’s risk assessment but had not been replaced or 
ordered, which can pose as a ligature risk: door knobs in the patient rooms and 
patient restrooms were not of a ligature resistant type; metal chain type pull 
cords used to adjust the window blinds; door hinges in the patient rooms and 
patient restrooms were not of a ligature resistant three hinge type; electric light 
fixtures above the patient beds were standard hospital type.

 Inpatient patient rooms contained heater vents, furniture, closet doors, window 
blind knobs and bathroom sink faucets that were not ligature resistant. 

 In the Endoscopy room, it was noted the scope reprocessing room was small 
and did not allow for a conducive dirty-to-clean workflow. There was only one 
sink in the area to clean the scopes. 

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  
76



23

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EC and LS EPs:

Example Observations* (cont.)

EC.02.05.01, EP 15 - In critical care areas designed to control airborne 
contaminants (such as biological agents, gases, fumes, dust), the ventilation 
system provides appropriate pressure relationships, air-exchange rates, 
filtration efficiencies, and temperature and humidity

 In 2 of the 3 operating rooms the temperature and humidity logs were 
reviewed they ranged from 62% to 75%, with no corrective actions 
recorded.  The acceptable limit was 60%.

 It was determined that a CACI  was utilized for compounding hazardous 
medication. The organization could not provide evidence that the room 
maintained negative pressure or had 12 air exchanges per hour. 

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  
77



24

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Most Frequently Cited EC and LS EPs:

Example Observations*

EC.02.02.01, EP 5 - The critical access hospital minimizes risks 
associated with selecting, handling, storing, transporting, using, and 
disposing of hazardous chemicals.

 Corrosive Chemicals (Floor Stripper pH>13) are being used in a 
janitor's closet without a readily available eyewash station.

 Eyewash station did not provide tepid water (between 60-100 
degrees)

 Eye was station was behind locked doors.

*Note: Example observations are provided for the Top 3 most frequently cited High Likelihood to Harm EPs.  

78



25

© 2018, The Joint Commission

Thank you!!

79



Final Accreditation Report

Northern Inyo Healthcare District
150 Pioneer Lane
Bishop, CA 93514

Organization Identification Number: 9762
Unannounced Full Event: 2/19/2019 - 2/21/2019

 
Program Surveyed

Critical Access Hospital

Final Report: Posted 2/25/201980



Table of Contents

Executive Summary 3
What’s Next - Follow-up Activity 4
Critical Access Hospital 7

• SAFER™ Matrix 7
• The Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services (CMS) Summary 9
• Requirements for Improvement (RFI) 11

Appendix 26
• The Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services (CMS) Conditions of Partiicipation (CoP) 26
• Standards/Elements of Performance (EP) Language 28
• Report Section Descriptions 37
• Clarification Instructions 39

The Joint Commission

2 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201981



Executive Summary

Program Survey 
Dates Event Outcome Follow-up Activity Follow-up Time Frame or Submission Due Date

Critical Access 
Hospital

02/19/2019 - 
02/21/2019

Requirements for 
Improvement

Clarification (Optional) Submit within 10 Business Days from the final posted report date

Evidence of Standards
Compliance (ESC)

Submit within 60 Calendar Days from the final posted report date

The Joint Commission

3 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201982



Program: Critical Access Hospital

What’s Next - Follow-up Activity

CoP Tag

Included in the 
Evidence of 
Standard 
Compliance 
(within 60 
calendar days)

EC.02.01.01 1 Moderate / 
Pattern

EC.02.02.01 12 Low / Pattern

19 Low / Limited

5 Low / Limited

EC.02.03.03 2 Low / 
Widespread

3 Low / 
Widespread

EC.02.03.05 19 Moderate / 
Widespread

28 Low / Limited

3 Low / Limited

4 Low / Limited

5 Low / Limited

EC.02.05.01 15 Moderate / 
Limited

16 Low / Pattern

9 Low / Limited

EC.02.05.03 1 Low / Limited

Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement

§485.623
(a)

C-0221

§485.623
(b)(2)

C-0223

§485.623
(b)(2)

C-0223

§485.623
(b)(2)

C-0223

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

The Joint Commission

4 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201983



CoP Tag

Included in the 
Evidence of 
Standard 
Compliance 
(within 60 
calendar days)

11 Low / Limited

EC.02.05.05 4 Moderate / 
Pattern

6 Low / Limited

EC.02.05.07 8 Low / Limited

9 Low / Limited

EC.02.05.09 11 Low / Limited

12 Low / Limited

EM.02.01.01 14 Low / Limited

EM.03.01.03 2 Low / Limited

HR.01.01.01 2 Low / Limited

LS.02.01.10 11 Low / Limited

LS.02.01.20 13 Low / Limited

LS.02.01.34 10 Low / Limited

9 Low / Limited

LS.02.01.35 14 Low / Limited

6 Low / Limited

Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(a)

C-0221

§485.625
(e)(2)

E-0041

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.623
(b)(1)

C-0222

§485.625
(b)(8)

E-0026

§485.625
(d)(2)(ii)
(A)

E-0039

§485.608
(d)

C-0154

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

§485.623
(c)(1)(i)

C-----

The Joint Commission

5 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201984



CoP Tag

Included in the 
Evidence of 
Standard 
Compliance 
(within 60 
calendar days)

LS.02.01.70 6 Low / Limited

MM.04.01.01 1 Low / Limited

MM.05.01.01 4 Moderate / 
Limited

MS.06.01.05 9 Low / Limited

PC.02.01.11 2 Low / Limited

PC.02.02.01 29 Low / Limited

RC.02.01.01 2 Low / Pattern

TS.03.02.01 3 Low / Limited

Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement

§485.623
(b)(2)

C-0223

§483.55
(b)(4)

C----

§485.638
(a)(4)(iii)

C-0306

The Joint Commission

6 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201985



Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
to

 h
ar

m
 a

 P
at

ie
nt

 / 
Vi

si
to

r /
 S

ta
ff

Program: Critical Access Hospital

SAFER™ Matrix

ITL

High

Moderate

EC.02.05.01 EP 15
MM.05.01.01 EP 4

EC.02.01.01 EP 1
EC.02.05.05 EP 4

EC.02.03.05 EP 19

Low

EC.02.02.01 EP 5
EC.02.02.01 EP 19
EC.02.03.05 EP 3
EC.02.03.05 EP 4
EC.02.03.05 EP 5
EC.02.03.05 EP 28
EC.02.05.01 EP 9
EC.02.05.03 EP 1
EC.02.05.03 EP 11
EC.02.05.05 EP 6
EC.02.05.07 EP 8
EC.02.05.07 EP 9
EC.02.05.09 EP 11
EC.02.05.09 EP 12
EM.02.01.01 EP 14
EM.03.01.03 EP 2
HR.01.01.01 EP 2
LS.02.01.10 EP 11
LS.02.01.20 EP 13

EC.02.02.01 EP 12
EC.02.05.01 EP 16
RC.02.01.01 EP 2

EC.02.03.03 EP 2
EC.02.03.03 EP 3

The Joint Commission

7 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201986



LS.02.01.34 EP 9
LS.02.01.34 EP 10
LS.02.01.35 EP 6
LS.02.01.35 EP 14
LS.02.01.70 EP 6
MM.04.01.01 EP 1
MS.06.01.05 EP 9
PC.02.01.11 EP 2
PC.02.02.01 EP 29
TS.03.02.01 EP 3

Limited Pattern Widespread

Scope

The Joint Commission

8 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201987



The Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services (CMS) Summary

CoP(s) Tag CoP Score Corresponds to:

§485.608 C-0150 Standard

§485.608(d) C-0154 Standard CAH/HR.01.01.01/EP2

§485.623 C-0220 Standard

§485.623(a) C-0221 Standard CAH/EC.02.01.01/EP1
CAH/EC.02.05.05/EP6

§485.623(b)(1) C-0222 Standard CAH/EC.02.03.05/EP3
CAH/EC.02.03.05/EP4
CAH/EC.02.03.05/EP5
CAH/EC.02.03.05/EP19
CAH/EC.02.05.01/EP15
CAH/EC.02.05.05/EP4
CAH/EC.02.05.07/EP9
CAH/EC.02.05.09/EP11

§485.623(b)(2) C-0223 Standard CAH/EC.02.02.01/EP5
CAH/EC.02.02.01/EP12
CAH/EC.02.02.01/EP19
CAH/LS.02.01.70/EP6

§485.623(c)(1)(i) C----- Standard CAH/EC.02.03.03/EP3
CAH/EC.02.03.05/EP28
CAH/LS.02.01.10/EP11
CAH/LS.02.01.34/EP10
CAH/LS.02.01.35/EP6
CAH/LS.02.01.35/EP14

§485.638 C-0300 Standard

§485.638(a)(4)(iii) C-0306 Standard CAH/RC.02.01.01/EP2

§485.645 C-0350 Standard

§483.55 C---- Standard

§483.55(b)(4) C---- Standard CAH/PC.02.02.01/EP29

§485.625 E-0001 Standard

§485.625(b)(8) E-0026 Standard CAH/EM.02.01.01/EP14

Program: Critical Access Hospital

The Joint Commission

9 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201988



CoP(s) Tag CoP Score Corresponds to:

§485.625(d)(2)(ii)(A) E-0039 Standard CAH/EM.03.01.03/EP2

§485.625(e)(2) E-0041 Standard CAH/EC.02.05.07/EP8

The Joint Commission

10 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201989



Requirements for Improvement
Program: Critical Access Hospital

Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

EC.02.01.01 1 Moderate
Pattern

The critical access hospital implements its process 
to identify safety and security risks associated with 
the environment of care that could affect patients, 
staff, and other people coming to the critical access 
hospital's facilities.
Note: Risks are identified from internal sources such 
as ongoing monitoring of the environment, results of 
root cause analyses, results of proactive risk 
assessments of high-risk processes, and from 
credible external sources such as Sentinel Event 
Alerts.

1). Observed in Tracer Activities at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During review of relative humidity recordings in 
the operating rooms, it was noted that for all 3 ORs, 
the number of readings in January in which the 
humidity was below 20% was 56 times out of 2232 
total humidity readings.  The hospital is functioning 
under a CMS waiver permitting using the operating 
room at a relative humidity of 20% or more.  There 
have been no instances of performing surgery with 
the relative humidity under 20%.  However, the 
organization is doing procedures when the humidity 
is between 20%-30%.  The organization has not 
conducted a risk assessment in making its 
determination to perform surgery at such levels of 
humidity, although hospital staff have been given 
guidance on conducting a risk assessment and have 
begun the process.

§485.623(a) Standard

EC.02.02.01 5 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital minimizes risks 
associated with selecting, handling, storing, 
transporting, using, and disposing of hazardous 
chemicals.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The emergency generators 1,2 and 3 have non
-sealed lead acid batteries and there was no 
emergency eyewash in the vicinity.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The surgical suite where specimen jars 
containing formalin and soiled sterile processing 
areas did not have a plumbed energy eyewash 
station.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

EC.02.02.01 12 Low
Pattern

The critical access hospital labels hazardous 
materials and waste. Labels identify the contents 
and hazard warnings. * (See also IC.02.01.01, EP 6) 
Footnote *: The Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration’s (OSHA) Bloodborne Pathogens and 
Hazard Communications Standards and the 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) provide 
details on labeling requirements.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The fuel tank for generator 1 and 2 was not 
labeled for contents of diesel fuel. A label was 
ordered during survey.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

The Joint Commission

11 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201990



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The sub deck fuel tank for generator 3  was not 
labeled for contents of diesel fuel.  A label was 
ordered during survey.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

3). Observed in Individual Tracer at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During tracer activities in the operating room 
and sterile processing areas, the process for 
cleaning endoscopes was discussed and reviewed.  
It was noted that the containers used for bringing 
dirty scopes into the decontamination area do not 
have a biohazard label on them.  Further discussion 
revealed that containers for bringing surgical 
instruments from the OR down the hallway into the 
decontamination area are covered with drapes 
before being transported via a cart to the 
decontamination area, and there is no biohazard 
marking on this container.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

EC.02.02.01 19 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital has procedures for the 
proper routine storage and prompt disposal of trash.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The med surge electrical room H2061 had 
used fluorescent bulbs which are universal waste 
stored in an open unlabeled box.  Used bulbs need 
to be kept in a closed box that labeled for used or 
spent bulbs.  Corrected on survey.

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

EC.02.03.03 2 Low
Widespread

The critical access hospital conducts fire drills every 
12 months from the date of the last drill in all 
freestanding buildings classified as business 
occupancies and in which patients are seen or 
treated. 
Note: In leased or rented facilities, drills need be 
conducted only in areas of the building that the 
critical access hospital occupies.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The fire response drills were not conducted on 
a quarterly interval of 3 months +/- 10 days for the 
following:    1) 2018 first shift – fourth quarter drill not 
conducted 2) third shift – third quarter drill not 
conducted. 3)  2017 first shift April 28th and August 
30th exceeded time interval 4) 2017 second shift- 
May 31st and September 27th exceeded time 
interval. 5) 2017 Second Shift – fourth quarter drill 
not conducted. 6)  2017 third shift – June 14th and 
July 19th less than an interval of 3 months +/- 10 
days.

EC.02.03.03 3 Low When quarterly fire drills are required, they are  1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo  §485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

The Joint Commission

12 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201991



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

Widespread unannounced and held at unexpected times and 
under varying conditions. Fire drills include 
transmission of fire alarm signal and simulation of 
emergency fire conditions. 
Note 1: When drills are conducted between 9:00 
P.M. and 6:00 A.M., the critical access hospital may 
use alternative methods to notify staff instead of 
activating audible alarms. 
Note 2: For full text, refer to NFPA 101-2012: 18/19: 
7.1.7; 7.1; 7.2; 7.3.

Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The fire response drills were less than 1-hour 
variance per shift and therefore not at unexpected 
times for the following.  1)  2018 first shift Jan 26th 
at 2:45 p.m., April 27th at 2:00 p.m. 2) 2018 second 
shift February 26th at 3:10 p.m., May 30th at 3:10 
p.m., and August 30th at 3:10 p.m. 3) 2018 third shift 
– June 27th at 5:00 p.m. October 19th at 5:15 p.m. 
and December 17th at 5:30 p.m. 4) 2017 first shift – 
April 28th at 2:00 p.m. and August 30th at 1:45 p.m. 
5) 2017 second shift Feb 27th at 3:10 p.m. , May 
31st at 3:15 p.m., and September 27th at 3:07 p.m.  
6) 2017 third shift – March 24th at 5:00 a.m., June 
14th at 5:25 a.m., and July 19th at 6:00 a.m..

EC.02.03.05 3 Low
Limited

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests 
duct detectors, heat detectors, manual fire alarm 
boxes, and smoke detectors on the inventory. The 
results and completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, 
see NFPA 72-2010: Table 14.4.5; 17.14.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The annual testing of smoke, heat and duct 
detectors for the support building exceeded the 
annual testing interval of one year +/- one month 
with June 27, 2017 and November 9, 2017 
inspections.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

EC.02.03.05 4 Low
Limited

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests 
visual and audible fire alarms, including speakers 
and door-releasing devices on the inventory. The 
results and completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, 
see NFPA 72-2010: Table 14.4.5.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The annual testing of audible and visuals 
notification devices or the support building exceedec 
the annual testing interval of one year +/- one month 
with June 27, 2017 and November 9, 2017 
inspections.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

EC.02.03.05 5 Low
Limited

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests 
fire alarm equipment on the inventory for notifying off
-site fire responders. The results and completion 
dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, 
see NFPA 72-2010: Table 14.4.5.

1). Observed in Data Session at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The annual testing of offsite emergency 
notification of the fire alarm system for the support 
building exceedec the annual testing interval of one 
year +/- one month with June 27, 2017 and 
November 9, 2017 inspections.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

EC.02.03.05 19 Moderate
Widespread

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests 
automatic smoke-detection shutdown devices for air
-handling equipment. The results and completion 
dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, 

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The organization did not provide 
documentation for HVAC shutdown from smoke 
detector activation for 2017 and 2018.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

The Joint Commission

13 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201992



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

see NFPA 90A-2012: 6.4.1.
EC.02.03.05 28 Low

Limited
Documentation of maintenance, testing, and 
inspection activities for Standard EC.02.03.05, EPs 
1–20, 25 (including fire alarm and fire protection 
features) includes the following:
- Name of the activity
- Date of the activity
- Inventory of devices, equipment, or other items
- Required frequency of the activity
- Name and contact information, including affiliation, 
of the person who performed the activity
- NFPA standard(s) referenced for the activity
- Results of the activity
Note: For additional guidance on documenting 
activities, see NFPA 25-2011: 4.3; 4.4; NFPA 72-
2010: 14.2.1; 14.2.2; 14.2.3; 14.2.4; NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.7.2.1.5.10.1; 7.2.1.5.11.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In review of the EC 02.03.05 EP2 the NFPA 
reference was missing on the documentation for the 
flow and tamper switches for 2017 and 2018 
documents.

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

EC.02.05.01 9 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital labels utility system 
controls to facilitate partial or complete emergency 
shutdowns.
Note 1: Examples of utility system controls that 
should be labeled are utility source valves, utility 
system main switches and valves, and individual 
circuits in an electrical distribution panel.
Note 2: For example, the fire alarm system’s circuit 
is clearly labeled as Fire Alarm Circuit; the 
disconnect method (that is, the circuit breaker) is 
marked in red; and access is restricted to authorized 
personnel. Information regarding the dedicated 
branch circuit for the fire alarm panel is located in 
the control unit. For additional guidance, see NFPA 
101-2012: 18/19.3.4.1; 9.6.1.3; NFPA 72-2010: 
10.5.5.2.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The electrical disconnect for the main fire 
alarm in panel HZL beaker # 34 needs to be colored 
red.  Reference NFPA 72 - 2010 10.5.5.2.3.
Corrected on survey.

EC.02.05.01 15 Moderate
Limited

In critical care areas designed to control airborne 
contaminants (such as biological agents, gases, 
fumes, dust), the ventilation system provides 
appropriate pressure relationships, air-exchange 
rates, filtration efficiencies, and temperature and 
humidity. 
Note: For more information about areas designed for 
control of airborne contaminants, the basis for 

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The clean surgical sterile processing had a 
negative pressure relationship relative to the soiled 
side of sterile processing and a negative pressure 
relationship relative to the corridor.  Corrected on 
survey.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

The Joint Commission

14 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201993



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

design compliance is the Guidelines for Design and 
Construction of Health Care Facilities, based on the 
edition used at the time of design (if available).

EC.02.05.01 16 Low
Pattern

In non–critical care areas, the ventilation system 
provides required pressure relationships, 
temperature, and humidity. 
Note: Examples of non–critical care areas are 
general care nursing units; clean and soiled utility 
rooms in acute care areas; laboratories, 
pharmacies, diagnostic and treatment areas, food 
preparation areas, and other support departments.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The OR Clean supply room H1064 had a 
negative pressure relationship relative to the 
corridor. Corrected on survey.

2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The L&D clean supply H2066 clean supply had 
negative pressure relationship relative to the 
corridor. Corrected on survey.
3). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The ICU clean supply clean supply had 
negative pressure relationship relative to the 
corridor.  Corrected on survey.
4). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The PACU clean utility room H1096 had a 
negative pressure relationship relative to the 
corridor.   Corrected on survey.

EC.02.05.03 1 Low
Limited

For facilities that were constructed, or had a change 
in occupancy type, or have undergone an electrical 
system upgrade since 1983, the critical access 
hospital has a Type 1 or Type 3 essential electrical 
system in accordance with NFPA 99, 2012 edition. 
This essential electrical system must be divided into 
three branches, including the life safety branch, 
critical branch, and equipment branch. Both the life 
safety branch and the critical branch are kept 
independent of all other wiring and equipment, and 
they transfer within 10 seconds of electrical 
interruption.  Each branch has at least one 
automatic transfer switch. For additional guidance, 
see NFPA 99-2012: 6.4.2.2.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The electrical disconnect for the main fire 
alarm in panel HZL beaker # 34 needs to be on the 
life safety branch.  The fire alarm breaker was on a 
panel that had breakers to equipment and non-life 
safety items.

The Joint Commission

15 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201994



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

EC.02.05.03 11 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital provides emergency 
power within 10 seconds for the following: 
Emergency lighting at emergency generator 
locations. The critical access hospital’s emergency 
power system (EPS) has a remote manual stop 
station (with identifying label) to prevent inadvertent 
or unintentional operation.  A remote annunciator 
(powered by storage battery) is located outside the 
EPS location. 
Note: For guidance in establishing a reliable 
emergency power system (that is, an essential 
electrical distribution system), refer to NFPA 99-
2012: 6.4.1.1.6; 6.4.1.1.17; 6.4.2.2; NFPA 110-2010: 
5.6.5.6; 7.3.1.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site .  Generator 1 and 2 need an emergency stop 
button outside of the room enclosure.

EC.02.05.05 4 Moderate
Pattern

The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and 
maintains the following: High-risk utility system 
components on the inventory. The completion date 
and the results of the activities are documented.
Note 1: A high-risk utility system includes 
components for which there is a risk of serious injury 
or even death to a patient or staff member should it 
fail, which includes life-support equipment.  
Note 2: Required activities and associated 
frequencies for maintaining, inspecting, and testing 
of utility systems components that are completed in 
accordance with manufacturers’ recommendations 
must have a 100% completion rate.
Note 3: Scheduled maintenance activities for high-
risk utility systems components in an alternative 
equipment maintenance (AEM) program inventory 
must have a 100% completion rate.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In review of the fire damper inspection report 
for EC 02.03. 05/ EP18 from May 4, 2017 there 3 
dampers that failed. The dampers were not readily 
accessible and there was no risk assessment follow 
up until the dampers can be repaired.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

EC.02.05.05 6 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and 
maintains the following: Non-high-risk utility system 
components on the inventory. The completion date 
and the results of the activities are documented.
Note: Scheduled maintenance activities for non-high
-risk utility systems components in an alternative 
equipment maintenance (AEM) program inventory 
must have a 100% completion rate. AEM frequency 
is determined by the critical access hospital AEM 
program.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The electrical room containing the main fire 
alarm panel had multiple items with less than 3 feet 
clearance in storage blocking access to electrical 
panels.   Corrected on survey.

§485.623(a) Standard

The Joint Commission

16 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201995



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site .  The med surge electrical room H2061 had 
storage within 3 feet of electrical panels.  Corrected 
on survey.

§485.623(a) Standard

3). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In the boiler room the control panel for the on 
demand hot water system were removed. Correct on 
survey.

§485.623(a) Standard

EC.02.05.07 8 Low
Limited

At least annually, the critical access hospital tests 
the fuel quality to ASTM standards. The test results 
and completion dates are documented.  
Note: For additional guidance, see NFPA 110-2010: 
8.3.8.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The organization did not provide 
documentation of a fuel test of the diesel for the 
emergency generators.

§485.625(e)(2) Standard

EC.02.05.07 9 Low
Limited

At least once every 36 months, critical access 
hospitals with a generator providing emergency 
power test each emergency generator for a 
minimum of 4 continuous hours. The test results and 
completion dates are documented.  
Note: For additional guidance, see NFPA 110-2010, 
Chapter 8.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The triennial 30% load run for emergency 
generators 1 and 2 on June 11th and 12th 2016 did 
not clearly differentiate the load of each generator  
or show the run times for each of the generators 
though the total run time exceeded 4 hours required 
for each generator.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

EC.02.05.09 11 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital makes main supply 
valves and area shutoff valves for piped medical gas 
and vacuum systems accessible and clearly 
identifies what the valves control. Piping is labeled 
by stencil or adhesive markers identifying the gas or 
vacuum system, including the name of system or 
chemical symbol, color code (see NFPA 99-2012: 
Table 5.1.11), and operating pressure if other than 
standard. Labels are at intervals of 20 feet or less 
and are in every room, at both sides of wall 
penetrations, and on every story traversed by riser. 
Piping is not painted. Shutoff valves are identified 
with the name or chemical symbol of the gas or 
vacuum system, room or area served, and caution 
to not use the valve except in emergency. (For full 
text, refer to NFPA 99-2012: 5.1.4; 5.1.11.1; 
5.1.11.2; 5.1.14.3; 5.2.11; 5.3.13.3; 5.3.11)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In the bulk oxygen tank  the mains source shut 
off valve was not labeled. A label was ordered during 
survey.

§485.623(b)(1) Standard

The Joint Commission

17 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201996



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

EC.02.05.09 12 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital implements a policy on 
all cylinders within the critical access hospital that 
includes the following:
- Labeling, handling, and transporting (for example, 
in carts, attached to equipment, on racks) in 
accordance with NFPA 99-2012: 11.5.3.1 and 11.6.2
- Physically segregating full and empty cylinders 
from each other in order to assist staff in selecting 
the proper cylinder 
- Adaptors or conversion fittings are prohibited
- Oxygen cylinders, containers, and associated 
equipment are protected from contamination, 
damage, and contact with oil and grease
- Cylinders are kept away from heat and flammable 
materials and do not exceed a temperature of 130°F 
- Nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide cylinders do not 
reach temperatures lower than manufacturer 
recommendations or -20°F
- Valve protection caps (if supplied) are secured in 
place when cylinder is not in use
- Labeling empty cylinders 
- Prohibiting transfilling in any compartment with 
patient care   
(For full text, refer to NFPA 99-2012: 11.6.1; 11.6.2; 
11.6.5; 11.7.3)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site .   In the maintenance shop there was an 
unsecured helium compressed gas tank.  Corrected 
on survey.

2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The PACU equipment room H1082 had empty 
and half full oxygen cylinders comingled with full 
oxygen cylinders.
3). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The med surge med room had an unlabeled 
rack of comingled full, half full e- size oxygen 
cylinders.

EM.02.01.01 14 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital has a procedure for 
requesting an 1135 waiver for care and treatment at 
an alternative care site.  
Note: During disasters, organizations may need to 
request 1135 waivers to address care and treatment 
at an alternate care site identified by emergency 

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The organization did not provide 
documentation for a procedure for requesting an 
1135 waiver for care and treatment at an alternative 
care site.

§485.625(b)(8) Standard

The Joint Commission

18 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201997



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

management officials. The 1135 waivers are granted 
by the federal government during declared public 
health emergencies; these waivers authorize 
modification of certain federal regulatory 
requirements (for example, Medicare, Medicaid, 
Children’s Health Insurance Program, Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) for a 
defined time period during response and recovery.

EM.03.01.03 2 Low
Limited

For each site of the critical access hospital that 
offers emergency services or is a community-
designated disaster receiving station, at least one of 
the critical access hospital’s two emergency 
response exercises includes an influx of simulated 
patients. 
Note 1: Tabletop sessions, though useful, cannot 
serve for this portion of the exercise. 
Note 2: This portion of the emergency response 
exercise can be conducted separately or in 
conjunction with EM.03.01.03, EPs 3 and 4.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . Of the disaster drills in 2018 the reviewed , the 
evacuation and lock down to an external active 
shooter, neither drill involved influx of simulated 
patients into the hospital.

§485.625(d)(2)
(ii)(A)

Standard

HR.01.01.01 2 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital verifies and documents 
the following:
- Credentials of care providers using the primary 
source when licensure, certification, or registration is 
required by law and regulation to practice their 
profession. This is done at the time of hire and at the 
time credentials are renewed.
- Credentials of care providers (primary source not 
required) when licensure, certification, or registration 
is not required by law and regulation. This is done at 
the time of hire and at the time credentials are 
renewed.
Note 1: It is acceptable to verify current licensure, 
certification, or registration with the primary source 
via a secure electronic communication or by 
telephone, if this verification is documented.
Note 2: A primary verification source may designate 
another agency to communicate credentials 
information. The designated agency can then be 
used as a primary source.
Note 3: An external organization (for example, a 
credentials verification organization [CVO]) may be 

1). Observed in Competency Session at Northern 
Inyo Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, 
CA) site . In 2 of 10 HR files reviewed, it was noted 
that there was no primary source verification prior to 
expiration of the previous license in one pharmacist 
file and no primary source verification of registration 
required by the State of California in one dietitian's 
file.  In both instances, primary source verification on 
the date of survey confirmed licensure or 
registration.

§485.608(d) Standard

The Joint Commission

19 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201998



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

used to verify credentials information. A CVO must 
meet the CVO guidelines identified in the Glossary.

LS.02.01.10 11 Low
Limited

Fire-rated doors within walls and floors have 
functioning hardware, including positive latching 
devices and self-closing or automatic-closing 
devices (either kept closed or activated by release 
device complying with NFPA 101- 2012:7.2.1.8.2). 
Gaps between meeting edges of door pairs are no 
more than 1/8 of an inch wide, and undercuts are no 
larger than 3/4 of an inch. Fire-rated doors within 
walls do not have unapproved protective plates 
greater than 16 inches from the bottom of the door. 
Blocking or wedging open fire-rated doors is 
prohibited. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-2012: 
8.3.3.1; 7.2.1.8.2; NFPA 80-2010: 4.8.4.1; 5.2.13.3; 
6.3.1.7; 6.4.5)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The cross corridor double  1 1/2 hour rated 
doors located by the dining room did not latch upon 
closure.This finding was observed during survey 
activity, but corrected onsite prior to the surveyor’s 
departure.  The corrective action taken needs to be 
included in the organization’s Evidence of Standards 
Compliance submission

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

LS.02.01.20 13 Low
Limited

An exit enclosure is not used for any purpose that 
has the potential to interfere with its use as an exit 
and, if so designated, as an area of refuge. Open 
space within the exit enclosure is not used for any 
purpose that has the potential to interfere with 
egress. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-2012: 
18/19.2.2.3; 7.1.3.2.3; 7.2.2.5.3.1)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The north stairwell on the second floor landing 
had storage of medical evacuation sled.The 
surveyor discussed the Life Safety deficiency with 
the organization, and it was determined that the 
following ILSMs will be implemented until the 
deficiency has been resolved and according to the 
organization’s ILSM policy: Conduct education 
promoting awareness of deficiencies(EP-13)

LS.02.01.34 9 Low
Limited

The ceiling membrane is installed and maintained in 
a manner that permits activation of the smoke 
detection system. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.3.4.1)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In the corridor by the infusion area with smoke 
detection there were two ceiling tiles missing 
creating a gap in the ceiling smoke membraneThis 
finding was observed during survey activity, but 
corrected onsite prior to the surveyor’s departure.  
The corrective action taken needs to be included in 
the organization’s Evidence of Standards 
Compliance submission

LS.02.01.34 10 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital meets all other Life 
Safety Code fire alarm requirements related to NFPA 
101-2012: 18/19.3.4.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The pull station in the electrical room 
containing the main fire alarm panel was obstructed 

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

The Joint Commission

20 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/201999



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

by items in storage.This finding was observed during 
survey activity, but corrected onsite prior to the 
surveyor’s departure.  The corrective action taken 
needs to be included in the organization’s Evidence 
of Standards Compliance submission
2). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In the back side of clean sterile storage there 
was a fire response pull station obstructed by a 
trash can near the emergency exit.This finding was 
observed during survey activity, but corrected onsite 
prior to the surveyor’s departure.  The corrective 
action taken needs to be included in the 
organization’s Evidence of Standards Compliance 
submission

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

LS.02.01.35 6 Low
Limited

There are 18 inches or more of open space 
maintained below the sprinkler deflector to the top of 
storage.
Note: Perimeter wall and stack shelving may extend 
up to the ceiling when not located directly below a 
sprinkler head. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-
2012: 18.3.5.1; 19.3.5.3; 9.7.1.1; NFPA 13-2010: 
8.5.5.2; 8.5.5.2.1; 8.5.5.3)

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . In sterile storage the center shelves had items 
on the top shelf with less than 18 inch clearance 
below the fire sprinkler heads.This finding was 
observed during survey activity, but corrected onsite 
prior to the surveyor’s departure.  The corrective 
action taken needs to be included in the 
organization’s Evidence of Standards Compliance 
submission

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

LS.02.01.35 14 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital meets all other Life 
Safety Code automatic extinguishing requirements 
related to NFPA 101-2012: 18/19.3.5.

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site .  In OR # 2 there was  a fire extinguisher 
blocked by storage of step stool.This finding was 
observed during survey activity, but corrected onsite 
prior to the surveyor’s departure.  The corrective 
action taken needs to be included in the 
organization’s Evidence of Standards Compliance 
submission

§485.623(c)(1)(i) Standard

LS.02.01.70 6 Low
Limited

Soiled linen and trash receptacles larger than 32 
gallons are stored in a room protected as a 
hazardous area. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.7.5.7)
Note: Containers that are 96 gallons or less and are 
labeled and listed as meeting the requirements of 

1). Observed in Building Tour at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The PACU had a large trash can greater than 
32 gallon capacity stored adjacent to a soiled linen 
hamper.   Reference NFPA 101 -2012 19.7.5.7.1 
(2).This finding was observed during survey activity, 

§485.623(b)(2) Standard

The Joint Commission

21 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019100



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

FM Approval Standard 6921 (or equivalent) and are 
used solely for recycling clean waste (including 
patient records awaiting destruction) are permitted in 
an unprotected area. Those containers that are 
greater than 96 gallons are stored in a hazardous 
storage area.

but corrected onsite prior to the surveyor’s 
departure.  The corrective action taken needs to be 
included in the organization’s Evidence of Standards 
Compliance submission

MM.04.01.01 1 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital follows a written policy 
that identifies the specific types of medication orders 
that it deems acceptable for use. 
Note: There are several different types of medication 
orders. Medication orders commonly used include 
the following:
- As needed (PRN) orders: Orders acted on based 
on the occurrence of a specific indication or 
symptom
- Standing orders: A prewritten medication order and 
specific instructions from the licensed independent 
practitioner to administer a medication to a person in 
clearly defined circumstances
- Automatic stop orders: Orders that include a date 
or time to discontinue a medication
- Titrating orders: Orders in which the dose is either 
progressively increased or decreased in response to 
the patient’s status
- Taper orders: Orders in which the dose is 
decreased by a particular amount with each dosing 
interval
- Range orders: Orders in which the dose or dosing 
interval varies over a prescribed range, depending 
on the situation or patient’s status
- Signed and held orders: New prewritten (held) 
medication orders and specific instructions from a 
licensed independent practitioner to administer 
medication(s) to a patient in clearly defined 
circumstances that become active upon the release 
of the orders on a specific date(s) and time(s)
- Orders for compounded drugs or drug mixtures not 
commercially available
- Orders for medication-related devices (for 
example, nebulizers, catheters)
- Orders for investigational medications

1). Observed in Individual Tracer at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During an individual tracer in the PACU, it was 
noted that there were several medications ordered 
for pain, and they were ranked in order of choice 
with Fentanyl ranked first.  There was also another 
order for Meperidine IVP prn pain or shaking, 
although the Meperidine was not given a rank.  The 
patient was noted to have a pain level of 7, and 
Fentanyl 25 micrograms was given.  However, the 
Meperidine was omitted. which was not consistent 
with the orders.  The patient’s record subsequently 
documented a pain score level of 6, and Fentanyl 25 
micrograms was again given, although at a pain 
score level of 6, the order indicated 12.5 micrograms 
of Fentanyl was to be given.

The Joint Commission

22 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019101



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

- Orders for herbal products
- Orders for medications at discharge or transfer

MM.05.01.01 4 Moderate
Limited

All medication orders are reviewed for the following:
- Patient allergies or potential sensitivities
- Existing or potential interactions between the 
medication ordered and food and medications the 
patient is currently taking
- The appropriateness of the medication, dose, 
frequency, and route of administration
- Current or potential impact as indicated by 
laboratory values
- Therapeutic duplication
- Other contraindications

1). Observed in Individual Tracer at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During individual patient tracer of a 
postoperative orthopedic patient, it was noted that 
Dilaudid 0.2 mg IV prn pain level 7-10 and 
Oxycodone 10 mg prn pain level 7-10 were ordered.  
The oxycodone order indicated that PO medication 
was to be used first, but the Dilaudid order did not 
have any limitations. There was no documentation of 
clarification of this order by the pharmacist.

MS.06.01.05 9 Low
Limited

Before recommending privileges, the organized 
medical staff also evaluates the following:
- Challenges to any licensure or registration
- Voluntary and involuntary relinquishment of any 
license or registration
- Voluntary and involuntary termination of medical 
staff membership
- Voluntary and involuntary limitation, reduction, or 
loss of clinical privileges
- Any evidence of an unusual pattern or an 
excessive number of professional liability actions 
resulting in a final judgment against the applicant
- Documentation as to the applicant’s health status
- Relevant practitioner-specific data as compared to 
aggregate data, when available
- Morbidity and mortality data, when available

1). Observed in Credentialing and Privileging at 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, 
Bishop, CA) site . During review of a rural clinic’s 
provider’s file in which the reappointment application 
had a summary of peer review, proctoring, data and 
outcome review, it was noted that the actual 
information that was reviewed was not sent to the 
medical staff office.  That information was not 
available to the medical staff leaders responsible for 
recommending renewal of privileges. Evaluation of 
the data in another provider’s file showed 
demonstration that 3% of the provider’s patients 
were offered influenza immunization and 22% had 
appropriate colorectal screening while the summary 
report indicated that the provider’s performance was 
satisfactory based on a thorough and 
comprehensive review.

PC.02.01.11 2 Low
Limited

Resuscitation equipment is available for use based 
on the needs of the population served.  
Note: For example, if the critical access hospital has 
a pediatric population, pediatric resuscitation 
equipment should be available. (See also 
EC.02.04.03, EP 2)

1). Observed in Tracer Visit at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During tracer activities in the Operating Room, 
it was noted that a locked lipid emulsion 
resuscitation kit used for emergency reversal of local 
anesthetic toxicity was being checked weekly, but 
that the lock number was not recorded as part of the 
check.  This meant that there was no way to 
determine that everything inside the locked kit was, 
in fact, the complete requirements for managing the 
local anesthetic toxicity emergency.

The Joint Commission

23 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019102



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

2). Observed in Tracer Activities at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During tracer activities in the Emergency 
Department, it was noted that daily checks of the 
Broselow bag does not include the lock number.

PC.02.02.01 29 Low
Limited

For critical access hospitals with swing beds: The 
critical access hospital follows its policy identifying 
circumstances when loss of or damage to a 
resident’s dentures is the critical access hospital’s 
responsibility and it may not charge a resident for 
the loss or damage of dentures.

1). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The hospital currently does not have a policy 
related to identifying circumstances when loss of or 
damage to a resident's dentures is the hospital's 
responsibility and when it may not charge a resident 
for the loss or damage of dentures.  A draft policy 
has been developed and is awaiting approval by the 
medical staff and governing body.

§483.55(b)(4) Standard

2). Observed in Document Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . The hospital currently does not have a policy 
related to identifying circumstances when loss of or 
damage to a resident's dentures is the hospital's 
responsibility and when it may not charge a resident 
for the loss or damage of dentures.  A draft policy 
has been developed and is awaiting approval by the 
medical staff and governing body.

§483.55(b)(4) Standard

RC.02.01.01 2 Low
Pattern

The medical record contains the following clinical 
information:
- The reason(s) for admission for care, treatment, 
and services
- The patient’s initial diagnosis, diagnostic 
impression(s), or condition(s)
- Any findings of assessments and reassessments 
(See also PC.01.02.01, EP 1; PC.03.01.03, EPs 1 
and 8)
- Any allergies to food
- Any allergies to medications
- Any conclusions or impressions drawn from the 
patient’s medical history and physical examination
- Any diagnoses or conditions established during the 
patient’s course of care, treatment, and services 
(including complications and hospital-acquired 
infections). For psychiatric distinct part units in 
critical access hospitals: The diagnosis includes 

1). Observed in Record Review at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During review of a swing bed patient whose 
prior admission was on the medical surgical unit, it 
was noted that some orders, such as oxycodone 10 
mg po prn pain level 7-10, were continued from the 
prior admission.

§485.638(a)(4)
(iii)

Standard

The Joint Commission

24 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019103



Standard EP SAFER™ 
Placement EP Text Observation CoP CoP Score

intercurrent diseases (diseases that occur during the 
course of another disease; for example, a patient 
with AIDS may develop an intercurrent bout of 
pneumonia) and the psychiatric diagnoses.
- Any consultation reports
- Any observations relevant to care, treatment, and 
services
- The patient’s response to care, treatment, and 
services
- Any emergency care, treatment, and services 
provided to the patient before his or her arrival
- Any progress notes
- All orders
- Any medications ordered or prescribed
- Any medications administered, including the 
strength, dose, route, date and time of 
administration
- Any access site for medication, administration 
devices used, and rate of administration
- Any adverse drug reactions
- Treatment goals, plan of care, and revisions to the 
plan of care (See also PC.01.03.01, EP 23)
- Results of diagnostic and therapeutic tests and 
procedures
- Any medications dispensed or prescribed on 
discharge
- Discharge diagnosis
- Discharge plan and discharge planning evaluation
(See also PC.01.02.03, EP 6)

TS.03.02.01 3 Low
Limited

The critical access hospital documents the dates, 
times, and staff involved when tissue is accepted, 
prepared, and issued. (See also TS.03.01.01, EP 6)

1). Observed in Tracer Visit at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA) 
site . During review of the tissue tracking log, it was 
noted that the documentation of the individual 
receiving the tissue was not documented in 3 of 67 
tissues received that were noted in the tracking log.

The Joint Commission

25 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019104



Program: Critical Access Hospital

CoP Tag CoP Standard text

§485.608 Compliance With 
Federal, State, and Local Laws 
and Regulations

C-0150 §485.608 Condition of Participation: Compliance With Federal, State, and Local Laws and Regulations

The CAH and its staff are in compliance with applicable Federal, State and local laws and regulations.
§485.608(d) Licensure, 
Certification or Registration of 
Personnel

C-0154 §485.608(d) Standard: Licensure, Certification or Registration of Personnel

Staff of the CAH are licensed, certified, or registered in accordance with applicable Federal, State, and local laws 
and regulations.

§485.623 Physical Plant and 
Environment

C-0220 §485.623 Condition of Participation: Physical Plant and Environment

§485.623(a) Construction C-0221 §485.623(a) Standard: Construction

The CAH is constructed, arranged, and maintained to ensure access to and safety of patients, and provides 
adequate space for the provision of services.

§485.623(b)(1) Maintenance C-0222 (1) All essential mechanical, electrical, and patient-care equipment is maintained in safe operating condition;

§485.623(b)(2) Maintenance C-0223 (2) There is proper routine storage and prompt disposal of trash;

§485.623(c)(1)(i)  C----- (i) The CAH must meet the applicable provisions and must proceed in accordance with the Life Safety Code 
(NFPA 101 and Tentative Interim Amendments TIA 12–1, TIA 12–2, TIA 12–3, and TIA 12–4.)

§485.638 Clinical Records C-0300 §485.638 Condition of Participation: Clinical Records

§485.638(a)(4)(iii) Records 
System

C-0306 (iii) All orders of doctors of medicine or osteopathy or other practitioners, reports of treatments and medications, 
nursing notes and documentation of complications, and other pertinent information necessary to monitor the 
patient's progress, such as temperature graphics, progress notes describing the patient's response to treatment; 
and

§485.645  C-0350 §485.645 Special Requirements for CAH Providers of Long-Term Care Services (“Swing-Beds”)

A CAH must meet the following requirements in order to be granted an approval from CMS to provide post-CAH 
SNF care, as specified in §409.30 of this chapter, and to be paid for SNF-level services, in accordance with 
paragraph (c) of this section.

§483.55  C---- §483.55 Dental services.
The facility must assist residents in obtaining routine and 24-hour emergency dental care.

Conditions of Participation Text
Appendix

The Joint Commission

26 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019105



CoP Tag CoP Standard text

§483.55(b)(4)  C---- (4) Must have a policy identifying those circumstances when the loss or damage of dentures is the facility’s 
responsibility and may not charge a resident for the loss or damage of dentures determined in accordance with 
facility policy to be the facility’s responsibility; and

§485.625 Establishment of the 
Emergency Program (EP)

E-0001 §485.625 Condition of Participation: Emergency Preparedness

The CAH must comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local emergency preparedness requirements. The 
CAH must develop and maintain a comprehensive emergency preparedness program, utilizing an all-hazards 
approach. The emergency preparedness plan must include, but not be limited to, the following elements:

§485.625(b)(8) Roles under a 
Waiver Declared by Secretary

E-0026 (8) The role of the CAH under a waiver declared by the Secretary, in accordance with section 1135 of the Act, in 
the provision of care and treatment at an alternate care site identified by emergency management officials.

§485.625(d)(2)(ii)(A) Emergency 
Prep Testing Requirements

E-0039 (A) A second full-scale exercise that is community-based or individual, facility-based.

§485.625(e)(2) Hospital CAH 
and LTC Emergency Power

E-0041 (2) Emergency generator inspection and testing. The CAH must implement emergency power system inspection 
and testing requirements found in the Health Care Facilities Code, NFPA 110, and the Life Safety Code.

The Joint Commission

27 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019106



Standard and EP Text

Program: Critical Access Hospital

Standard EP Standard Text EP Text

EC.02.01.01 1 The critical access hospital manages safety and security risks. The critical access hospital implements its process to identify safety and 
security risks associated with the environment of care that could affect 
patients, staff, and other people coming to the critical access hospital's 
facilities.
Note: Risks are identified from internal sources such as ongoing 
monitoring of the environment, results of root cause analyses, results of 
proactive risk assessments of high-risk processes, and from credible 
external sources such as Sentinel Event Alerts.

EC.02.02.01 5 The critical access hospital manages risks related to hazardous materials 
and waste.

The critical access hospital minimizes risks associated with selecting, 
handling, storing, transporting, using, and disposing of hazardous 
chemicals.

EC.02.02.01 12 The critical access hospital manages risks related to hazardous materials 
and waste.

The critical access hospital labels hazardous materials and waste. Labels 
identify the contents and hazard warnings. * (See also IC.02.01.01, EP 6) 
Footnote *: The Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) 
Bloodborne Pathogens and Hazard Communications Standards and the 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) provide details on labeling 
requirements.

EC.02.02.01 19 The critical access hospital manages risks related to hazardous materials 
and waste.

The critical access hospital has procedures for the proper routine storage 
and prompt disposal of trash.

EC.02.03.03 2 The critical access hospital conducts fire drills. The critical access hospital conducts fire drills every 12 months from the 
date of the last drill in all freestanding buildings classified as business 
occupancies and in which patients are seen or treated. 
Note: In leased or rented facilities, drills need be conducted only in areas 
of the building that the critical access hospital occupies.

EC.02.03.03 3 The critical access hospital conducts fire drills. When quarterly fire drills are required, they are unannounced and held at 
unexpected times and under varying conditions. Fire drills include 
transmission of fire alarm signal and simulation of emergency fire 
conditions. 
Note 1: When drills are conducted between 9:00 P.M. and 6:00 A.M., the 
critical access hospital may use alternative methods to notify staff instead 
of activating audible alarms. 
Note 2: For full text, refer to NFPA 101-2012: 18/19: 7.1.7; 7.1; 7.2; 7.3.

EC.02.03.05 3 The critical access hospital maintains fire safety equipment and fire safety  Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests duct detectors, heat 

Appendix
The Joint Commission

28 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019107



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
building features.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of fire safety equipment and building features described below. 
However, if these types of equipment or features exist within the building, 
then the following maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

detectors, manual fire alarm boxes, and smoke detectors on the inventory. 
The results and completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, see NFPA 72-2010: 
Table 14.4.5; 17.14.

EC.02.03.05 4 The critical access hospital maintains fire safety equipment and fire safety 
building features.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of fire safety equipment and building features described below. 
However, if these types of equipment or features exist within the building, 
then the following maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests visual and audible fire 
alarms, including speakers and door-releasing devices on the inventory. 
The results and completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, see NFPA 72-2010: 
Table 14.4.5.

EC.02.03.05 5 The critical access hospital maintains fire safety equipment and fire safety 
building features.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of fire safety equipment and building features described below. 
However, if these types of equipment or features exist within the building, 
then the following maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests fire alarm equipment on 
the inventory for notifying off-site fire responders. The results and 
completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, see NFPA 72-2010: 
Table 14.4.5.

EC.02.03.05 19 The critical access hospital maintains fire safety equipment and fire safety 
building features.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of fire safety equipment and building features described below. 
However, if these types of equipment or features exist within the building, 
then the following maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

Every 12 months, the critical access hospital tests automatic smoke-
detection shutdown devices for air-handling equipment. The results and 
completion dates are documented.
Note: For additional guidance on performing tests, see NFPA 90A-2012: 
6.4.1.

EC.02.03.05 28 The critical access hospital maintains fire safety equipment and fire safety 
building features.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of fire safety equipment and building features described below. 
However, if these types of equipment or features exist within the building, 
then the following maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

Documentation of maintenance, testing, and inspection activities for 
Standard EC.02.03.05, EPs 1–20, 25 (including fire alarm and fire 
protection features) includes the following:
- Name of the activity
- Date of the activity
- Inventory of devices, equipment, or other items
- Required frequency of the activity
- Name and contact information, including affiliation, of the person who 
performed the activity
- NFPA standard(s) referenced for the activity
- Results of the activity
Note: For additional guidance on documenting activities, see NFPA 25-
2011: 4.3; 4.4; NFPA 72-2010: 14.2.1; 14.2.2; 14.2.3; 14.2.4; NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.7.2.1.5.10.1; 7.2.1.5.11.

EC.02.05.01 9 The critical access hospital manages risks associated with its utility 
systems.

The critical access hospital labels utility system controls to facilitate partial 
or complete emergency shutdowns.
Note 1: Examples of utility system controls that should be labeled are 
utility source valves, utility system main switches and valves, and 

The Joint Commission

29 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019108



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
individual circuits in an electrical distribution panel.
Note 2: For example, the fire alarm system’s circuit is clearly labeled as 
Fire Alarm Circuit; the disconnect method (that is, the circuit breaker) is 
marked in red; and access is restricted to authorized personnel. 
Information regarding the dedicated branch circuit for the fire alarm panel 
is located in the control unit. For additional guidance, see NFPA 101-2012: 
18/19.3.4.1; 9.6.1.3; NFPA 72-2010: 10.5.5.2.

EC.02.05.01 15 The critical access hospital manages risks associated with its utility 
systems.

In critical care areas designed to control airborne contaminants (such as 
biological agents, gases, fumes, dust), the ventilation system provides 
appropriate pressure relationships, air-exchange rates, filtration 
efficiencies, and temperature and humidity. 
Note: For more information about areas designed for control of airborne 
contaminants, the basis for design compliance is the Guidelines for Design 
and Construction of Health Care Facilities, based on the edition used at 
the time of design (if available).

EC.02.05.01 16 The critical access hospital manages risks associated with its utility 
systems.

In non–critical care areas, the ventilation system provides required 
pressure relationships, temperature, and humidity. 
Note: Examples of non–critical care areas are general care nursing units; 
clean and soiled utility rooms in acute care areas; laboratories, 
pharmacies, diagnostic and treatment areas, food preparation areas, and 
other support departments.

EC.02.05.03 1 The critical access hospital has a reliable emergency electrical power 
source.

For facilities that were constructed, or had a change in occupancy type, or 
have undergone an electrical system upgrade since 1983, the critical 
access hospital has a Type 1 or Type 3 essential electrical system in 
accordance with NFPA 99, 2012 edition. This essential electrical system 
must be divided into three branches, including the life safety branch, 
critical branch, and equipment branch. Both the life safety branch and the 
critical branch are kept independent of all other wiring and equipment, and 
they transfer within 10 seconds of electrical interruption.  Each branch has 
at least one automatic transfer switch. For additional guidance, see NFPA 
99-2012: 6.4.2.2.

EC.02.05.03 11 The critical access hospital has a reliable emergency electrical power 
source.

The critical access hospital provides emergency power within 10 seconds 
for the following: Emergency lighting at emergency generator locations. 
The critical access hospital’s emergency power system (EPS) has a 
remote manual stop station (with identifying label) to prevent inadvertent or 
unintentional operation.  A remote annunciator (powered by storage 
battery) is located outside the EPS location. 
Note: For guidance in establishing a reliable emergency power system 
(that is, an essential electrical distribution system), refer to NFPA 99-2012: 
6.4.1.1.6; 6.4.1.1.17; 6.4.2.2; NFPA 110-2010: 5.6.5.6; 7.3.1.

EC.02.05.05 4 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains utility systems.   The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains the following: 

The Joint Commission

30 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019109



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
Note: At times, maintenance is performed by an external service.  In these 
cases, critical access hospitals are not required to possess maintenance 
documentation but must have access to such documentation during survey 
and as needed.

High-risk utility system components on the inventory. The completion date 
and the results of the activities are documented.
Note 1: A high-risk utility system includes components for which there is a 
risk of serious injury or even death to a patient or staff member should it 
fail, which includes life-support equipment.  
Note 2: Required activities and associated frequencies for maintaining, 
inspecting, and testing of utility systems components that are completed in 
accordance with manufacturers’ recommendations must have a 100% 
completion rate.
Note 3: Scheduled maintenance activities for high-risk utility systems 
components in an alternative equipment maintenance (AEM) program 
inventory must have a 100% completion rate.

EC.02.05.05 6 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains utility systems.  
Note: At times, maintenance is performed by an external service.  In these 
cases, critical access hospitals are not required to possess maintenance 
documentation but must have access to such documentation during survey 
and as needed.

The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains the following: 
Non-high-risk utility system components on the inventory. The completion 
date and the results of the activities are documented.
Note: Scheduled maintenance activities for non-high-risk utility systems 
components in an alternative equipment maintenance (AEM) program 
inventory must have a 100% completion rate. AEM frequency is 
determined by the critical access hospital AEM program.

EC.02.05.07 8 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains emergency 
power systems.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of emergency power equipment discussed below.  However, if these 
types of equipment exist within the building, then the following 
maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

At least annually, the critical access hospital tests the fuel quality to ASTM 
standards. The test results and completion dates are documented.  
Note: For additional guidance, see NFPA 110-2010: 8.3.8.

EC.02.05.07 9 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains emergency 
power systems.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
types of emergency power equipment discussed below.  However, if these 
types of equipment exist within the building, then the following 
maintenance, testing, and inspection requirements apply.

At least once every 36 months, critical access hospitals with a generator 
providing emergency power test each emergency generator for a minimum 
of 4 continuous hours. The test results and completion dates are 
documented.  
Note: For additional guidance, see NFPA 110-2010, Chapter 8.

EC.02.05.09 11 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains medical gas and 
vacuum systems.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
medical gas and vacuum systems discussed below.  However, if a critical 
access hospital has these types of systems, then the following inspection, 
testing, and maintenance requirements apply.

The critical access hospital makes main supply valves and area shutoff 
valves for piped medical gas and vacuum systems accessible and clearly 
identifies what the valves control. Piping is labeled by stencil or adhesive 
markers identifying the gas or vacuum system, including the name of 
system or chemical symbol, color code (see NFPA 99-2012: Table 5.1.11), 
and operating pressure if other than standard. Labels are at intervals of 20 
feet or less and are in every room, at both sides of wall penetrations, and 
on every story traversed by riser. Piping is not painted. Shutoff valves are 
identified with the name or chemical symbol of the gas or vacuum system, 
room or area served, and caution to not use the valve except in 

The Joint Commission

31 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019110



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
emergency. (For full text, refer to NFPA 99-2012: 5.1.4; 5.1.11.1; 5.1.11.2; 
5.1.14.3; 5.2.11; 5.3.13.3; 5.3.11)

EC.02.05.09 12 The critical access hospital inspects, tests, and maintains medical gas and 
vacuum systems.  
Note: This standard does not require critical access hospitals to have the 
medical gas and vacuum systems discussed below.  However, if a critical 
access hospital has these types of systems, then the following inspection, 
testing, and maintenance requirements apply.

The critical access hospital implements a policy on all cylinders within the 
critical access hospital that includes the following:
- Labeling, handling, and transporting (for example, in carts, attached to 
equipment, on racks) in accordance with NFPA 99-2012: 11.5.3.1 and 
11.6.2
- Physically segregating full and empty cylinders from each other in order 
to assist staff in selecting the proper cylinder 
- Adaptors or conversion fittings are prohibited
- Oxygen cylinders, containers, and associated equipment are protected 
from contamination, damage, and contact with oil and grease
- Cylinders are kept away from heat and flammable materials and do not 
exceed a temperature of 130°F 
- Nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide cylinders do not reach temperatures 
lower than manufacturer recommendations or -20°F
- Valve protection caps (if supplied) are secured in place when cylinder is 
not in use
- Labeling empty cylinders 
- Prohibiting transfilling in any compartment with patient care   
(For full text, refer to NFPA 99-2012: 11.6.1; 11.6.2; 11.6.5; 11.7.3)

EM.02.01.01 14 The critical access hospital has an Emergency Operations Plan.  
Note: The critical access hospital’s Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) is 
designed to coordinate its communications, resources and assets, safety 
and security, staff responsibilities, utilities, and patient clinical and support 
activities during an emergency (refer to Standards EM.02.02.01, 
EM.02.02.03, EM.02.02.05, EM.02.02.07, EM.02.02.09, and EM.02.02.11). 
Although emergencies have many causes, the effects on these areas of 
the organization and the required response effort may be similar. This "all 
hazards" approach supports a general response capability that is 
sufficiently nimble to address a range of emergencies of different duration, 
scale, and cause. For this reason, the plan’s response procedures address 
the prioritized emergencies but are also adaptable to other emergencies 
that the organization may experience.

The critical access hospital has a procedure for requesting an 1135 waiver 
for care and treatment at an alternative care site.  
Note: During disasters, organizations may need to request 1135 waivers to 
address care and treatment at an alternate care site identified by 
emergency management officials. The 1135 waivers are granted by the 
federal government during declared public health emergencies; these 
waivers authorize modification of certain federal regulatory requirements 
(for example, Medicare, Medicaid, Children’s Health Insurance Program, 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) for a defined time 
period during response and recovery.

EM.03.01.03 2 The critical access hospital evaluates the effectiveness of its Emergency 
Operations Plan.

For each site of the critical access hospital that offers emergency services 
or is a community-designated disaster receiving station, at least one of the 
critical access hospital’s two emergency response exercises includes an 
influx of simulated patients. 
Note 1: Tabletop sessions, though useful, cannot serve for this portion of 
the exercise. 
Note 2: This portion of the emergency response exercise can be 

The Joint Commission

32 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019111



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
conducted separately or in conjunction with EM.03.01.03, EPs 3 and 4.

HR.01.01.01 2 The critical access hospital defines and verifies staff qualifications. The critical access hospital verifies and documents the following:
- Credentials of care providers using the primary source when licensure, 
certification, or registration is required by law and regulation to practice 
their profession. This is done at the time of hire and at the time credentials 
are renewed.
- Credentials of care providers (primary source not required) when 
licensure, certification, or registration is not required by law and regulation. 
This is done at the time of hire and at the time credentials are renewed.
Note 1: It is acceptable to verify current licensure, certification, or 
registration with the primary source via a secure electronic communication 
or by telephone, if this verification is documented.
Note 2: A primary verification source may designate another agency to 
communicate credentials information. The designated agency can then be 
used as a primary source.
Note 3: An external organization (for example, a credentials verification 
organization [CVO]) may be used to verify credentials information. A CVO 
must meet the CVO guidelines identified in the Glossary.

LS.02.01.10 11 Building and fire protection features are designed and maintained to 
minimize the effects of fire, smoke, and heat.

Fire-rated doors within walls and floors have functioning hardware, 
including positive latching devices and self-closing or automatic-closing 
devices (either kept closed or activated by release device complying with 
NFPA 101- 2012:7.2.1.8.2). Gaps between meeting edges of door pairs 
are no more than 1/8 of an inch wide, and undercuts are no larger than 3/4 
of an inch. Fire-rated doors within walls do not have unapproved protective 
plates greater than 16 inches from the bottom of the door. Blocking or 
wedging open fire-rated doors is prohibited. (For full text, refer to NFPA 
101-2012: 8.3.3.1; 7.2.1.8.2; NFPA 80-2010: 4.8.4.1; 5.2.13.3; 6.3.1.7; 
6.4.5)

LS.02.01.20 13 The critical access hospital maintains the integrity of the means of egress. An exit enclosure is not used for any purpose that has the potential to 
interfere with its use as an exit and, if so designated, as an area of refuge. 
Open space within the exit enclosure is not used for any purpose that has 
the potential to interfere with egress. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-2012: 
18/19.2.2.3; 7.1.3.2.3; 7.2.2.5.3.1)

LS.02.01.34 9 The critical access hospital provides and maintains fire alarm systems. The ceiling membrane is installed and maintained in a manner that permits 
activation of the smoke detection system. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.3.4.1)

LS.02.01.34 10 The critical access hospital provides and maintains fire alarm systems. The critical access hospital meets all other Life Safety Code fire alarm 
requirements related to NFPA 101-2012: 18/19.3.4.

LS.02.01.35 6 The critical access hospital provides and maintains systems for 
extinguishing fires.

There are 18 inches or more of open space maintained below the sprinkler 
deflector to the top of storage.

The Joint Commission

33 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019112



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
Note: Perimeter wall and stack shelving may extend up to the ceiling when 
not located directly below a sprinkler head. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101
-2012: 18.3.5.1; 19.3.5.3; 9.7.1.1; NFPA 13-2010: 8.5.5.2; 8.5.5.2.1; 
8.5.5.3)

LS.02.01.35 14 The critical access hospital provides and maintains systems for 
extinguishing fires.

The critical access hospital meets all other Life Safety Code automatic 
extinguishing requirements related to NFPA 101-2012: 18/19.3.5.

LS.02.01.70 6 The critical access hospital provides and maintains operating features that 
conform to fire and smoke prevention requirements.

Soiled linen and trash receptacles larger than 32 gallons are stored in a 
room protected as a hazardous area. (For full text, refer to NFPA 101-
2012: 18/19.7.5.7)
Note: Containers that are 96 gallons or less and are labeled and listed as 
meeting the requirements of FM Approval Standard 6921 (or equivalent) 
and are used solely for recycling clean waste (including patient records 
awaiting destruction) are permitted in an unprotected area. Those 
containers that are greater than 96 gallons are stored in a hazardous 
storage area.

MM.04.01.01 1 Medication orders are clear and accurate. The critical access hospital follows a written policy that identifies the 
specific types of medication orders that it deems acceptable for use. 
Note: There are several different types of medication orders. Medication 
orders commonly used include the following:
- As needed (PRN) orders: Orders acted on based on the occurrence of a 
specific indication or symptom
- Standing orders: A prewritten medication order and specific instructions 
from the licensed independent practitioner to administer a medication to a 
person in clearly defined circumstances
- Automatic stop orders: Orders that include a date or time to discontinue a 
medication
- Titrating orders: Orders in which the dose is either progressively 
increased or decreased in response to the patient’s status
- Taper orders: Orders in which the dose is decreased by a particular 
amount with each dosing interval
- Range orders: Orders in which the dose or dosing interval varies over a 
prescribed range, depending on the situation or patient’s status
- Signed and held orders: New prewritten (held) medication orders and 
specific instructions from a licensed independent practitioner to administer 
medication(s) to a patient in clearly defined circumstances that become 
active upon the release of the orders on a specific date(s) and time(s)
- Orders for compounded drugs or drug mixtures not commercially 
available
- Orders for medication-related devices (for example, nebulizers, 
catheters)
- Orders for investigational medications

The Joint Commission

34 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019113



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
- Orders for herbal products
- Orders for medications at discharge or transfer

MM.05.01.01 4 A pharmacist reviews the appropriateness of all medication orders for 
medications to be dispensed in the critical access hospital.

All medication orders are reviewed for the following:
- Patient allergies or potential sensitivities
- Existing or potential interactions between the medication ordered and 
food and medications the patient is currently taking
- The appropriateness of the medication, dose, frequency, and route of 
administration
- Current or potential impact as indicated by laboratory values
- Therapeutic duplication
- Other contraindications

MS.06.01.05 9 The decision to grant or deny a privilege(s), and/or to renew an existing 
privilege(s), is an objective, evidence-based process.

Before recommending privileges, the organized medical staff also 
evaluates the following:
- Challenges to any licensure or registration
- Voluntary and involuntary relinquishment of any license or registration
- Voluntary and involuntary termination of medical staff membership
- Voluntary and involuntary limitation, reduction, or loss of clinical 
privileges
- Any evidence of an unusual pattern or an excessive number of 
professional liability actions resulting in a final judgment against the 
applicant
- Documentation as to the applicant’s health status
- Relevant practitioner-specific data as compared to aggregate data, when 
available
- Morbidity and mortality data, when available

PC.02.01.11 2 Resuscitation services are available throughout the critical access hospital. Resuscitation equipment is available for use based on the needs of the 
population served.  
Note: For example, if the critical access hospital has a pediatric 
population, pediatric resuscitation equipment should be available. (See 
also EC.02.04.03, EP 2)

PC.02.02.01 29 The critical access hospital coordinates the patient’s care, treatment, and 
services based on the patient’s needs.

For critical access hospitals with swing beds: The critical access hospital 
follows its policy identifying circumstances when loss of or damage to a 
resident’s dentures is the critical access hospital’s responsibility and it may 
not charge a resident for the loss or damage of dentures.

RC.02.01.01 2 The medical record contains information that reflects the patient's care, 
treatment, and services.

The medical record contains the following clinical information:
- The reason(s) for admission for care, treatment, and services
- The patient’s initial diagnosis, diagnostic impression(s), or condition(s)
- Any findings of assessments and reassessments (See also PC.01.02.01, 
EP 1; PC.03.01.03, EPs 1 and 8)
- Any allergies to food
- Any allergies to medications

The Joint Commission

35 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019114



Standard EP Standard Text EP Text
- Any conclusions or impressions drawn from the patient’s medical history 
and physical examination
- Any diagnoses or conditions established during the patient’s course of 
care, treatment, and services (including complications and hospital-
acquired infections). For psychiatric distinct part units in critical access 
hospitals: The diagnosis includes intercurrent diseases (diseases that 
occur during the course of another disease; for example, a patient with 
AIDS may develop an intercurrent bout of pneumonia) and the psychiatric 
diagnoses.
- Any consultation reports
- Any observations relevant to care, treatment, and services
- The patient’s response to care, treatment, and services
- Any emergency care, treatment, and services provided to the patient 
before his or her arrival
- Any progress notes
- All orders
- Any medications ordered or prescribed
- Any medications administered, including the strength, dose, route, date 
and time of administration
- Any access site for medication, administration devices used, and rate of 
administration
- Any adverse drug reactions
- Treatment goals, plan of care, and revisions to the plan of care (See also 
PC.01.03.01, EP 23)
- Results of diagnostic and therapeutic tests and procedures
- Any medications dispensed or prescribed on discharge
- Discharge diagnosis
- Discharge plan and discharge planning evaluation
(See also PC.01.02.03, EP 6)

TS.03.02.01 3 The critical access hospital traces all tissues bi-directionally. The critical access hospital documents the dates, times, and staff involved 
when tissue is accepted, prepared, and issued. (See also TS.03.01.01, EP 
6)

The Joint Commission

36 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019115



Report Section Information
SAFER™ Matrix Description

All Requirements for Improvement (RFIs) are plotted on the SAFER matrix according to the likelihood the issue could cause harm to patient(s), staff, and/or visitor(s), and the
scope at which the RFI is observed. Combined, these characteristics identify a risk level for each RFI, which in turn will determine the level of required post-survey follow up.  As
the risk level of an RFI increases, the placement of the standard and Element of Performance moves from the bottom left corner to the upper right.  The definitions for the
Likelihood to Harm a Patient/Staff/Visitor and Scope are as follows:

    Likelihood to Harm a Patient/Staff/Visitor:  
        - Low: harm could happen, but would be rare  
        - Moderate: harm could happen occasionally   
        - High: harm could happen any time  
    Scope:  
        - Limited: unique occurrence that is not representative of routine/regular practice  
        - Pattern: multiple occurrences with potential to impact few/some patients, staff, visitors and/or settings  
        - Widespread: multiple occurrences with potential to impact most/all patients, staff, visitors and/or settings

The Evidence of Standards Compliance (ESC) or Plan of Correction (POC) forms with findings of a higher risk will require two additional fields within the ESC or POC.  The
organization will provide a more detailed description of Leadership Involvement and Preventive Analysis to assist in sustainment of the compliance plan.  Additionally, these higher
risk findings will be provided to surveyors for possible review or onsite validation during any subsequent onsite surveys, up until the next full triennial survey occurs. The below
legend illustrates the follow-up activity associated with each level of risk.

SAFER™ Matrix Placement Required Follow-Up Activity

HIGH/LIMITED
HIGH/PATTERN

HIGH/WIDESPREAD
Two additional areas surrounding Leadership Involvement and Preventive
Analysis will be included in the ESC or POC

•

Finding will be highlighted for potential review by surveyors on subsequent
onsite surveys up to and including the next full survey or review

•
MODERATE/PATTERN

MODERATE/WIDESPREAD

MODERATE/LIMITED
LOW/PATTERN

LOW/WIDESPREAD ESC or POC will not include Leadership Involvement and Preventive Analysis•

LOW/LIMITED

Appendix
The Joint Commission

37 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019116



Report Section Information
CMS Summary Description  

For organizations that utilize The Joint Commission for deeming purposes, observations noted within the Requirements for Improvement (RFI) section that are
crosswalked to a CMS Condition of Participation (CoP)/Condition for Coverage (CfC) are highlighted in this section.   The table included within this section
incorporates, from a Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) perspective, the CoPs/CfCs that were noted as noncompliant during the survey, the
Joint Commission standard and element of performance the CoP/CfC is associated with, the CMS score (either Standard or Condition Level), and if the
standard and EP will be included in an upcoming Medicare Deficiency Survey (MEDDEF) if applicable.  

Appendix

Requirements for Improvement Description  

Observations noted within the Requirements for Improvement (RFI) section require follow-up through the Evidence of Standards Compliance (ESC)
process.  The identified timeframes for submission for each observation are found in the Executive Summary section of the Final Report.  If a follow-up survey is
required, the unannounced visit will focus on the requirements for improvement although other areas, if observed, could still become findings.  The time frame to
perform the unannouced follow-up visit is dependent on the scope and severity of the issue identified within Requirements for Improvement.

The Joint Commission

38 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019117



Report Section Information
Clarification Instructions

Documents not available at the time of survey  
Any required documents that are not available at the time of survey will no longer be eligible for the clarification process. These RFIs will become action items
in the post-survey ESC process.

Clerical Errors  
Clerical errors in the report will no longer be eligible for the clarification process. The Joint Commission will work with the organization to correct the clerical
error, so that the report is accurate. The corrected RFIs will become action items in the post-survey process.

Audit Option  
There will no longer be an audit option as part of the clarification process. With the implementation of the SAFER™ matrix, the "C" Element of Performance
(EP) category is eliminated. The "C" EPs were the subject of Clarification Audits.

Appendix

The clarification process provides an organization the opportunity to demonstrate compliance with standards that were scored “not compliant” at the time of the
survey. The organization has 10 business days from the date the report is published on the extranet site to submit the clarification.  The Evidence of Standards
Compliance (ESC) due dates will remain the same whether or not the organization submits a clarification and/or is successful in the clarification process.  

Clarifications may take either of the following forms:  

      An organization believes it had adequate evidence available to the surveyor(s) and was in compliance  at the time of the survey.  (Please note that actions
taken during or immediately after the survey will not be considered.) The organization must use the clarification form to support their contention.  

      The organization has detailed evidence that was not immediately available  at the time of the survey.  The clarification must include an explanation as to
why the surveyor(s) did not have access to the information or why it was not provided to the surveyor(s) at the time of the survey. However, any required
documents that are not available at the time of survey are not eligible for the Clarification Process. These RFIs will become action items in the post-survey
ESC process.  

      Please do not submit supplemental documentation unless requested by The Joint Commission. If additional information is requested, the organization will
be required to highlight the relevance to the standards in the documentation.

The Joint Commission

39 of 39Organization Identification Number: 9762 Final Report: Posted 2/25/2019118



Northern Inyo Hospital
2018 Outmigration Assessment

January 17, 2018

119



Demographic Trends

Hospital Market Analysis

Physician and Behavioral Health Demand

Home Health and DME Demand

Community Health Indicators

Agenda

120



2

Demographic Trends

121



• Service area provided by Northern Inyo’s Leadership team

• When possible, data was separated into three service areas for 

more focused analysis

3

Service Area Definition

93513 - Big Pine 93514 - Bishop

92328 - Death Valley 93526 - Independence

92384 - Shoshone 93542 - Little Lake

92389 - Tecopa 93545 - Lone Pine

93522 - Darwin 93549 - Olancha

93512 - Benton

Northern Service Area

Southern Service Area

Non Tax Payer Service Area

122



4

Service Area Definition

= Northern

= Southern

= Non Tax Payer

123



• Northern Service Area (“NSA”) anticipated to decrease by 1% over the 

next five years, another .4% out to 2028
− Translates to roughly 262 fewer people in the NSA over the next 10 years

• Southern Service Area (“SSA”) anticipated to decrease at a slightly 

higher rate

• Non Tax Payer Service Area anticipated to increase slightly

5

Population

Source: ESRI

2018-2023 2018-2023 2018-2023 2023-2028 2023-2028 2018-2023

2010 2018 2023 2028 Change

Percent 

Change

Raw 

Change

Percent 

Change

Raw 

Change

Compound 

Annual Growth 

Northern Service Area 15,688 15,725 15,527 15,463 -198 -1% -198 0% -64 99.8%

Southern Service Area 3,990 3,880 3,780 3,714 -100 -3% -100 -2% -66 99.6%

Total Service Area 19,678 19,605 19,307 19,178 -298 -2% -298 -1% -129 99.7%

Non Tax Payer Service Area 275 283 286 295 3 1% 3 3% 9 100.2%

California 37,253,956 39,806,791 41,456,909 43,328,648 1,650,118 4% 1,650,118 5% 1,871,739 100.7%

United States 308,745,538 330,088,686 343,954,683 359,888,576 13,865,997 4% 13,865,997 5% 15,933,893 100.7%

124



• Population will continue to 

age, with 65-74 and 75-84 

age cohorts expanding 

significantly in both the NSA 

and SSA
− Important for future service 

mix but also rising mix of 

Medicare

6

Population

Source: ESRI

Area 2010 2018 2023 2028 18-23 2018 2023 18-23

Northern Service Area

Ages 0-19 3,675 3,417 3,374 3,332 -1.3% 21.7% 21.7% 0.0%

Ages 20-44 4,078 4,183 4,081 3,981 -2.4% 26.6% 26.3% -0.3%

Ages 45-64 5,008 4,606 4,078 3,611 -11.5% 29.3% 26.3% -3.0%

Ages 65-74 1,499 1,963 2,287 2,664 16.5% 12.5% 14.7% 2.2%

Ages 75-84 1,014 1,081 1,215 1,366 12.4% 6.9% 7.8% 1.0%

Ages 85+ 414 475 492 510 3.6% 3.0% 3.2% 0.1%

Total 15,688 15,725 15,527 15,463 -1.3%

Females 15-44 2,466 2,457 2,366 2,278 -3.7% 15.6% 15.2% -0.4%

Southern Service Area

Ages 0-19 836 747 746 745 -0.1% 19.3% 19.7% 0.5%

Ages 18-44 1,029 993 959 926 -3.4% 25.6% 25.4% -0.2%

Ages 45-64 1,347 1,222 1,067 932 -12.7% 31.5% 28.2% -3.3%

Ages 65-74 430 555 603 655 8.6% 14.3% 16.0% 1.6%

Ages 75-84 228 240 287 343 19.6% 6.2% 7.6% 1.4%

Ages 85+ 120 123 118 113 -4.1% 3.2% 3.1% 0.0%

Total 3,990 3,880 3,780 3,714 -2.6%

Females 15-44 580 552 531 511 -3.8% 14.2% 14.0% -0.2%

Non Tax Payer Service Area

Ages 0-19 63 59 56 53 -5.1% 1.5% 1.5% 0.0%

Ages 18-44 64 64 64 64 0.0% 1.6% 1.7% 0.0%

Ages 45-64 106 105 95 86 -9.5% 2.7% 2.5% -0.2%

Ages 65-74 28 37 47 60 27.0% 1.0% 1.2% 0.3%

Ages 75-84 11 14 20 29 42.9% 0.4% 0.5% 0.2%

Ages 85+ 3 4 4 4 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0%

Total 275 283 286 295 1.1%

Females 15-44 39 39 41 43 5.1% 1.0% 1.1% 0.1%

Percent 

Change

Percent of 

Total 

Growth in 

Population 

125



7

Hospital Market 
Analysis

126



• Market share in NSA 

dropped by 4% in 2017

• Overall market in NSA 

increased slightly

• Market share in SSA

dropped from 43% in 

2016 to 35% in 2017

• Non Tax service area 

market share of 61%

8

Inpatient Market Share

Inpatient Market Share 2015 2016 2017 Change 2015 2016 2017 Change

Northern Service Area

Northern Inyo Hospital 733 701 698 (35) 68% 68% 64% -4%

Mammoth Hospital 84 57 84 0 8% 6% 8% 0%

Glendale Adventist Medical Center - Wilson Terrace 21 33 30 9 2% 3% 3% 1%

Loma Linda University Children'S Hospital 26 16 38 12 2% 2% 3% 1%

Children's Hospital of Los Angeles 15 17 9 (6) 1% 2% 1% -1%

Loma Linda University Medical Center 14 14 13 (1) 1% 1% 1% 0%

Southern Inyo Hospital 7 5 25 18 1% 0% 2% 2%

All Others 180 184 197 17 17% 18% 18% 1%

Total 1,080 1,027 1,094 14

Southern Service Area

Northern Inyo Hospital 125 88 89 (36) 42% 43% 35% -7%

Mammoth Hospital 7 17 15 8 2% 8% 6% 3%

Glendale Adventist Medical Center - Wilson Terrace 6 2 1 (5) 2% 1% 0% -2%

Loma Linda University Children'S Hospital 11 3 8 (3) 4% 1% 3% -1%

Children's Hospital of Los Angeles 3 1 1 0% 1% 0% 0%

Loma Linda University Medical Center 5 13 8 2% 0% 5% 3%

Southern Inyo Hospital 41 11 27 (14) 14% 5% 11% -3%

All Others 101 83 102 1 34% 40% 40% 6%

Total 296 207 256 (40)

Non Tax Service Area

Northern Inyo Hospital 11 23 20 9 65% 79% 61% -4%

Mammoth Hospital 2 3 6 4 12% 10% 18% 6%

Glendale Adventist Medical Center - Wilson Terrace 5 5 0% 0% 15% 15%

Loma Linda University Children'S Hospital 1 1 0% 0% 3% 3%

Children's Hospital of Los Angeles 0 0% 0% 0% 0%

Loma Linda University Medical Center 1 1 (1) 6% 3% 0% -6%

Southern Inyo Hospital 1 (1) 6% 0% 0% -6%

All Others 2 2 1 (1) 12% 7% 3% -9%

Total 17 29 33 16
127



• Opportunity to increase 

cases in orthopedics 

(current market share is 

under 50%)

• Majority of Psych and 

Substance abuse 

services currently leaving 

community

9

2017 Inpatient Market Share by Service Line

48

1

11

28
51

76

44

4

9

17

24
44

16
102

11

2

82
8

10

16

84
4

3

1
2

698

14

0

3

1

12 16

24

6

3
7

2
7

1

2 7

6

3

0

29

8

4

33

2 0

6

1

6

3
206

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 NSA Market Share by Service Line

Northern Inyo Hospital Mammoth Hospital

Southern Inyo Hospital Loma Linda University Children'S Hospital

Glendale Adventist Medical Center - Wilson Terrace Loma Linda University Medical Center

All Others

128



10

Physician and Behavioral 
Health Demand

129



Physician Supply vs. Demand

11

• Shortage in total service area in primary 

care of 5.1 FTEs based on current supply

• Lack of medical subspecialties, 

particularly in cardiology, oncology, and 

neurology

• General surgery demand appears to be 

met by current supply

• While orthopedics shows adequate 

supply, lack of surgical focus translates to 

shortage and lower subsequent market 

share in orthopedics compared to other 

specialty areas

Physician Demand by Specialty

Specialty Northern Southern Non-Tax Total Supply
Net Overage / 

(Shortage)

Primary Care

Obstetrics/Gynecology 1.9 0.5 0.0 2.5 2.0 (0.5)

Family Practice 5.3 1.3 0.1 6.6 7.5 0.9

Internal Medicine 4.7 1.2 0.1 6.0 2.0 (4.0)

Pediatrics 2.0 0.5 0.0 2.6 1.1 (1.5)

Sub-Total 14.0 3.5 0.3 17.7 12.6 (5.1)

Medical Subspecialties

Audiology 0.7 0.2 0.0 0.8 (0.8)

Allergy 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3 (0.3)

Cardiology 0.8 0.2 0.0 1.0 0.2 (0.8)

Dermatology 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.6 (0.6)

Endocrinology 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 (0.2)

Gastroenterology 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.6 (0.6)

Hematology/Oncology 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.6 (0.6)

Infectious Disease 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 (0.2)

Nephrology 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3 (0.3)

Neurology 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.6 (0.6)

Pulmonary Medicine 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.4 (0.4)

Rheumatology 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 (0.2)

Surgical Subspecialties

General Surgery 1.7 0.4 0.0 2.2 2.0 (0.2)

Neurosurgery 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3 (0.3)

Ophthalmology 0.9 0.2 0.0 1.2 1.0 (0.2)

Orthopedics / Podiatry 1.2 0.3 0.0 1.5 2.8 1.3

Otolaryngology 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.7 (0.7)

Plastic Surgery 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.3 (0.3)

Thoracic Surgery 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 (0.2)

Urology 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.7 (0.7)130



Behavioral Health

12

• Psychiatrist shortage based on current supply of 1.7

• Psychologist demand in total service area appears to be met with current supply, 

however significant shortage appears in counseling/social work/therapy

Supply

Wipfli
RHRC 

(US)

HRSA 

(US)

RHRC 

(Non-

Metro)

Median Wipfli
RHRC 

(US)

HRSA 

(US)

RHRC 

(Non-

Metro)

Median Wipfli
RHRC 

(US)

HRSA 

(US)

RHRC 

(Non-

Metro)

Median Wipfli
RHRC 

(US)

HRSA 

(US)

RHRC 

(Non-

Metro)

Median

Psychiatrist 1.9 2.5 2.8 0.9 2.2 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.2 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.4 3.1 3.6 1.2 2.8 1.7

Behavioral Health NP 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.6 0.3 0.4

Psychologists 4.7 11.6 2.2 4.7 1.2 2.9 0.5 1.2 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.1 6.0 14.7 2.7 6.0 8.0

Counselors/Social Workers/Therapists 27.3 21.6 19.8 21.6 6.7 5.7 4.9 5.7 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 34.5 27.7 25.0 27.7 14.0

Counselors/Social Workers/Therapists

Substance Abuse Counselors 5.3 1.4 0.1 6.8

Mental Health Social Workers 9.7 6.9 6.1 2.4 1.8 1.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 12.2 8.9 7.7

Mental Health Counselors 17.6 7.5 13.6 4.3 2.0 3.4 0.3 0.1 0.2 22.3 9.6 17.2

Marriage and Family Therapists 1.9 0.5 0.0 2.4

Northern Inyo Southern Inyo Total Service Area

Demand

Non Tax

131



13

Home Health and 
DME Demand

132



Home Health Agency 

Demand

Northern Southern
Non-Tax 

Payer
Total

Home Heal th Vis i t s  Per 1 ,000 in CA

Under 71 Years 175

Over 71 Years 2,950

Ant ic ipated Vis i t s

Under 71 Years 2,398 595 45 3,038

Over 71 Years 5,974 1,410 77 7,461

Total 8 ,372 2,005 122 10,499

Average Visits Per Agency 9,062

Agencies  Required 1.2

Supp ly of  Agencies 1

Agency Overage/(Shortage) (0.2)

Service Area

Home Health Agency

14

• Based on home health visits per 1,000, and average frequency of 9,062 visits per 

agency, need for roughly 1.2 agencies in total service area

• Current supply of 1 agency results in shortage of .2, or around 1,800 visits

133



Durable Medical Equipment (“DME”)

15

• Current supply based on review of existing 

providers of 7.4 DME providers (RX, medical 

supply, optometry, podiatry and orthotist)

• Based on current demand, there appears to 

be a shortage in orthotist-related DME 

providers in the total service area

DME Provider Demand

Northern 

Inyo

Southern 

Inyo

Non-Tax 

Payer
Total

Supply

Pharmacy 4.0

Medical Supply Company 1.0

Optometry/Optician 2.0

Podiatry 0.4

Individual Certified Prosthetist/Orthotist

Total 7.4

Demand

Pharmacy 2.5 0.6 0.0 3.1

Medical Supply Company 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.7

Optometry/Optician 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.5

Podiatry 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.3

Individual Certified Prosthetist/Orthotist 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.2

Total 3.8 0.9 0.1 4.7

Overage/(Shortage)

Pharmacy 0.9

Medical Supply Company 0.3

Optometry 1.5

Podiatry 0.1

Individual Certified Prosthetist/Orthotist (0.2)

Service Area

134



16

Community Health 
Indicators

135



Community Health Indicators

17Source: County Health Rakings

• Inyo County was compared to California and national benchmarks 

across many key community health, environmental, healthcare, 

economic and behavioral health indicators

• Detailed graphs are provided in the appendix; summary charts provide 

at-a-glance comparisons

136



Community Health Indicators

18Source: County Health Rakings

Community Health Indicators
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Premature Death
l l l

Low birthweight
l l l

Poor or fair health
l l l

HIV prevalence
l l l

Diabetes prevalence
l l l

Poor physical health days
l l l

Frequent physical distress
l l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
137



Mental Health Indicators

19Source: County Health Rakings

Mental Health
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Poor mental health days
l l l

Frequent mental distress
l l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
138



Healthy Behaviors

20Source: County Health Rakings

Healthy Behaviors
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Drug overdose deaths
l l l

Motor vehicle crash deaths
l l l

Excessive drinking
l l l

Insufficient sleep
l l l

Adult obesity
l l l

Physical inactivity
l l l

Alcohol-impaired driving deaths
l l l

Adult smoking
l l l

Sexually transmitted infections
l l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
139



Economic Health Indicators

21Source: County Health Rakings

Economy
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Uninsured children
l l l

Uninsured adults
l l l

Children in poverty
l l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
140



Healthcare Indicators

22Source: County Health Rakings

Healthcare System
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Dentists
l l l

Diabetic screening
l l l

Mammography screening
l l l

Primary care physicians
l l l

Mental health providers
l l l

Other primary care providers
l l l

Preventable hospital stays
l l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
141



Environmental Health Indicators

23Source: County Health Rakings

Environment
2017-2018 

Change

Compared to 

California

Compared to 

National 

Benchmark

Injury deaths
l l l

Firearm fatalities
l l l

Access to exercise opportunities
l l l

Limited access to healthy foods
l l l

Food environment index
l l l

Violent crime Rate
l l l

Food insecurity
l l l

Health care costs
l l

Better Similar Worse

l l l
142



wipfli.com/healthcare
143



25

APPENDIX

144



Length of Life

26Source: County Health Rakings

• Inyo premature deaths per 100,000 higher than California, which aligns 

with national benchmark

145



Quality of Life

27Source: County Health Rakings

• Inyo County % of population in poor or fair health is slightly higher than 

national benchmark, but better than California

• Poor physical health days in line with CA, slightly above national 

benchmark

146



Quality of Life

28Source: County Health Rakings

• Poor mental health days in Inyo County slightly above CA

• Low birthweight % in Inyo County is higher than CA, national 

benchmark

147



Additional Health Outcomes

29Source: County Health Rakings

• Inyo rate of frequent physical distress is lower than CA, slightly above 

national benchmark

• Rate of frequent mental distress is in line with CA, but above national 

benchmark 

148



Additional Health Outcomes

30Source: County Health Rakings

• Prevalence of diabetes in Inyo County has declined for the last two 

years, in line with California, but slightly above national benchmark

• HIV prevalence significantly below CA, slightly above national 

benchmark

149



Health Behaviors

31Source: County Health Rakings

• Rate of adult smoking in Inyo County is below national benchmarks

• Rate of adult obesity in Inyo County (24%) is below the national 

benchmark of 26%

• Inyo County rates did rise slightly from 2017

150



Health Behaviors

32Source: County Health Rakings

• Inyo County food environment index is lower than CA, and below the 

national benchmark

• Rate has been declining steadily since 2014

151



Health Behaviors

33Source: County Health Rakings

• Rates of physical inactivity in Inyo County are in line with national 

benchmark, but higher than CA

• Rates have been rising since 2015 when they were lower than CA

• Access to exercise opportunities in Inyo County are significantly below 

CA and national benchmarks

152



Health Behaviors

34Source: County Health Rakings

• Rates of excessive drinking in Inyo County are higher than CA, and 

significantly above national benchmarks

• Alcohol-impaired driving deaths in Inyo County are above CA and 

national benchmarks, although they have declined from a high in 2017

153



Health Behaviors

35Source: County Health Rakings

• STI rates in Inyo county are above the national benchmark but below 

CA

• Rates have been declining from a high in 2016

• Teen birth rates in Inyo County are above CA and national 

benchmarks, however they have been falling steadily from 2011

154



Additional Health Behaviors

36Source: County Health Rakings

• Rates of food insecurity in Inyo County are in line with CA, and slightly 

above national benchmarks

• Access to health foods is significantly more limited in Inyo County 

compared with CA and national benchmarks

155



Additional Health Behaviors

37Source: County Health Rakings

• Rate of drug overdose deaths in Inyo County are over double CA and 

the national benchmark 

156



Additional Health Behaviors

38Source: County Health Rakings

• Rates of motor vehicle crash deaths are slightly higher than CA and 

national benchmarks

• Rates have increased in 2018 after a steady decline from 2014

• Rates of insufficient sleep are lower in Inyo County compared to CA but 

slightly higher than the national benchmark

157



Clinical Care

39Source: County Health Rakings

• Ratio of population to primary care physicians (lower is better) in Inyo 

County is lower than CA and national benchmarks

• Ratio of population to primary care providers (non-physician) is also 

lower than CA and only slightly higher than national benchmarks

158



Clinical Care

40Source: County Health Rakings

• Ratio of population to mental health providers is lower in Inyo County 

than CA and national benchmarks

• Ratio of population to dentists is higher (worse) in Inyo County 

compared to CA and national benchmarks

• Ratio went up significantly in 2018

159



Clinical Care

41Source: County Health Rakings

• Rate of Medicare preventable hospitals stays for ambulatory-care 

sensitive conditions in Inyo County is lower than CA and national 

benchmark

• Rate has been steadily decreasing since 2011 however it has risen 

slightly in 2018

160



Clinical Care

42Source: County Health Rakings

• Rate of diabetic screening in Inyo County is below CA and significantly below 

national benchmark

• Rate has been dropping since 2011, although in 2017 and 2018 the rate 

increased slightly

• Rate of mammography screening in Inyo County is in line with CA but significantly 

below national benchmarks

161



Additional Clinical Care

43Source: County Health Rakings

• Uninsured rate in Inyo County is slightly below CA, but above the national 

benchmark of 6%

• Uninsured rate has been declining steadily since a high of 20% in 2015

162



Additional Clinical Care

44Source: County Health Rakings

• Rate of uninsured children in Inyo County is higher than CA, and higher than 

national benchmark of 3%

• Health care costs (price-adjusted Medicare reimbursement) per enrollee in Inyo 

County is below CA

163



Social & Economic Factors

45Source: County Health Rakings

• Rates of violent crime in Inyo County are above CA, and significantly above 

national benchmark

• Rates have been increasing since 2016

• Injury related death rates in Inyo County are almost double CA, and significantly 

above national benchmarks

164



Social & Economic Factors

46Source: County Health Rakings

• Firearm fatality rates in Inyo County are double the national benchmark and CA

• Rates of children in poverty (19%) are slightly below CA but above national 

benchmarks of 12%

165



16
6



16
7



16
8



16
9



17
0



17
1



17
2



17
3



17
4



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

DISTRICT BOARD RESOLUTION 19-03 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 932 of the statutes of 1933 was added to the California 

Government Code to create Health Care Districts; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Northern Inyo Healthcare District does hereby 

finds that the deposit and withdrawal of money, the creation and maintenance of accounts for 

the benefits and compensation of the employees, payment of vendors and suppliers of the 

Health Care District and its business entities as outlined in Section 1, Division 23, Article 2;  of 

the Statute and, 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District does hereby authorize the creation and maintenance of accounts the 

deposit of monies and withdrawal of monies of Northern Inyo Healthcare District for the 

purpose of operating the business entities of the District and, 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors, 

meeting in regular session this 20th day of March, 2019 that the Chief Executive Officer; Kevin S. 

Flanigan, MD, MBA; Chief Operating Officer, Kelli Davis; Chief Nursing Officer, Tracy Aspel, and 

the Chief Financial Officer; John Tremble, or their successors in office, shall be authorized to 

operate all financial accounts of the organization and to create additional accounts as needed 

to meet the business needs of the Healthcare District in accordance with Section 1, Division 23, 

Article 2 of the California Chapter 932 Statute. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution be made a part of the minutes of this 

meeting. 

 

 
      _____________________________    ___________ 
      Mary Mae Kilpatrick, President   Date 
      Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
 
 
                           Attest:    _____________________________    ___________ 
      Robert Sharp, Secretary     Date 
      Northern Inyo Healthcare District   

421



422



423



424



425



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                     January 28, 2019 

Special Meeting                        Page 1 of 1 

   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:00 am by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, 

President, in the Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Board Room 

at 2957 Birch Street, Bishop California. 

 

PRESENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, President 

Jean Turner, Vice President   

Robert Sharp, Secretary 

Peter Tracy, Treasurer 

M.C. Hubbard, Member at Large 

Kevin S. Flanigan, MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

LEADERSHIP 

STRUCTURE 

PRESENTATION 

 

 

 

 

 
 

BOARD EDUCATION 

BROWN ACT; 

COMPLIANCE; ETHICS; 

AND GOVERNANCE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 

John Tremble, Chief Financial Officer 

 

Ms. Kilpatrick announced at this time persons in the audience may speak 

only on items listed on the Notice for this meeting, and speakers will be 

limited to a maximum of three minutes each.  No comments were heard. 

 

Chief Executive Officer Kevin S. Flanigan, MD, MBA provided a 

presentation on Leadership Structure Evolution at the Healthcare District, 

which included the following: 

 Definitions and role expectations for NIHD Chiefs; Directors; 

Managers; Assistant Managers; and Coordinators 

 Impact of the nurses’ union Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU) on District management 

 Leadership comparison, September 2015 to present 

 

District Legal Counsel Colin Coffey then provided Board education 

session on the following topics: 

- Fiduciary compliance responsibility 

- Transparency, ethics, and governance 

- Conflicts of interest 

- The Brown Act   

- Key excerpts from Local Healthcare District Law 

-  

He additionally distributed orientation materials for newly elected 

officials, and tips for Chief Executive and staff success.   

 

The meeting was adjourned at 1:37 pm. 

 

 

  

 

________________________________________ 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, President 

 

    Attest:   ________________________________________ 

                  Robert Sharp, Secretary 

426



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   February 20, 2019 

Regular Meeting                      Page 1 of  5 

      

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, 

President. 

 

PRESENT 

 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, President 

Jean Turner, Vice President   

Robert Sharp, Secretary 

Peter Tracy, Treasurer 

M.C. Hubbard, Member at Large 

Allison Robinson MD, Chief of Staff 

Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 

Kelli Davis, Chief Operating Officer 

John Tremble, Chief Financial Officer 

Tracy Aspel RN, Chief Nursing Officer 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CHIEF OF STAFF 

REPORT 

 

POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE 

APPROVALS 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REVIEWS 

APPROVALS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ms. Kilpatrick announced at this time persons in the audience may speak 

on any items not on the agenda for this meeting on any matter within the 

jurisdiction of the District Board, and speakers will be limited to a 

maximum of three minutes each.  Comments were heard from Robbin 

Cromer-Tyler MD, who informed the Board that Allison Robinson MD 

has been appointed to the American Board of Surgeons’ Board of 

Directors as on June 2019. 

   

Chief of Staff Allison Robinson, MD reported following careful review, 

consideration, and approval by the appropriate Committees, the Medical 

Executive Committee recommends approval of the following hospital-

wide Policies and Procedures: 

1. Bone Graft Tissue Bank 

2. Preoperative Interview 

3. Scheduling of Nursing Personnel 

It was moved by M.C. Hubbard, seconded by Peter Tracy, and 

unanimously passed to approve Policies and Procedures 1 through 3 as 

presented. 

 

Doctor Robinson also reported the Medical Executive Committee 

recommends approval of the following Annual Reviews: 

1. Plan to Eliminate or Substantially Reduce Medication-Related Errors 

2018-2019 

2. Critical Indicators 2019 

i. Emergency Department Critical Indicators 

ii. Surgical Critical Indicators 

iii. Anesthesia Critical Indicators 

iv. Neonatal Critical Indicators 

v. Pediatric Critical Indicators 

vi. Perinatal Critical Indicators 

vii. ICU Critical Indicators  

viii. Medical Services Critical Indicators 

427



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   February 20, 2019 

Regular Meeting                      Page 2 of  5 

 

 

 

 

STANDARDIZED 

PROCEDURES FOR THE 

NURSE PRACTITIONER 

OR CERTIFIED NURSE 

MIDWIFE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STANDARDIZED 

PROTOCOLS FOR THE 

PHYSICIAN ASSISTANT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPOSAL OF 

EXPANDED CHIEF OF 

STAFF POSITION 

 

ix. RHC Critical Indicators 

It was moved by Mr. Tracy, seconded by Jean Turner, and unanimously 

passed to approve all Annual Reviews as presented. 

 

Doctor Robinson additionally reported the Medical Executive Committee 

recommends approval of the following Standardized Procedures for the 

Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife: 

i. General Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

ii. Certified Nurse Midwife and Certified Nurse Midwife First 

Assistant 

iii. Adult Health Maintenance 

iv. Emergency Care Policy 

v. Furnishing Medications/Devices Policy 

vi. Laboratory & Diagnostic Testing 

vii. Management of Acute Illness 

viii. Management of Chronic Illness 

ix. Management of Minor Trauma 

x. Minor Surgical Procedure 

xi. Well Child Care 

It was moved by Ms. Hubbard, seconded by Robert Sharp, and 

unanimously passed to approve Standardized Procedures for the Nurse 

Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 1 through 11 as presented. 

 

Doctor Robinson also reported the Medical Executive Committee 

recommends approval of the following Standardized Protocols for the 

Physician Assistant: 

i. General Policy for the Physician Assistant 

ii. Medical Screening Examination for the Emergency Department 

Physician Assistant 

iii. Physician Assistant in the Operating Room 

iv. Adult Health Maintenance 

v. Emergency Care Policy 

vi. Laboratory and Diagnostic Testing 

vii. Management of Acute Illness 

viii. Management of Chronic Illness 

ix. Management of Minor Trauma 

x. Medication/Device Policy 

xi. Minor Surgical Policy 

xii. Well Child Care Policy 

It was moved by Ms. Hubbard, seconded by Mr. Sharp, and unanimously 

passed to approve Standardized Protocols for the Physician Assistant 1 

through 12 as presented. 

 

Doctor Robinson also presented a proposal for an expanded Chief of Staff 

Role as recommended by the Medical Executive Committee.  The 

proposal included an overview of the recommended responsibilities for 

the Chief of Staff, and a financial analysis of the costs involved.  

428



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   February 20, 2019 

Regular Meeting                      Page 3 of  5 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

UPDATE, QUALITY 

AND PERFORMANCE 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RURAL HEALTH 

CLINIC ANNUAL 

REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QUARTERLY 

COMPLIANCE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DISTRICT WIDE 

POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE 

APPROVALS 

 

 

Following discussion of this agenda item Ms. Kilpatrick stated a decision 

on this topic will be tabled to a future meeting of the District Board, in 

order to allow for a deeper analysis of all aspects involved. 

 

Stacey Brown MD provided an update on the activities of the Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Quality Improvement Operational Team, 

established for the purpose of helping to achieve the quality and 

performance-related goals of the District’s Strategic Plan.  The group’s 

current metric includes assessment of the NIHD employee flu vaccination 

rate, as well as quarterly infection prevention education for District staff.  

The District has achieved a year-to-date employee flu vaccination rate of 

98%; and a year-to-date infection prevention education rate of 100%.  The 

group is also focused on enhancing a culture of safety District wide, 

which includes implementation of an employee Safety Coach program at 

NIHD. 

 

Doctor Brown also provided an annual NIHD Rural Health Clinic update, 

which included information on the following: 

- History and evolution of the Rural Health Clinic (RHC) from 2001 

to present 

- Current Clinic status regarding staffing and care coordination 

- Innovations implemented at the Clinic including telemedicine; 

specialty services, and a Same Day Service line 

- Report on the future direction of the Clinic including preventative 

medicine; chronic care management; transitional care 

management; after hours provider team contact; coordination with 

new geriatric/memory services; and an expansion of services to 

the Bishop Care Center 

 

Compliance Officer Patty Dickson provided a quarterly Compliance 

Department report which included the following: 

- Comprehensive Compliance Program review 

- Summary of Personal Health Information breaches for Calendar 

Year 2018  

- Review of compliance issues and inquiries 

- Overview of audits performed; California Public Records Act 

requests; the Compliance Work plan; Licensing Survey response 

monitoring; and Conflicts of Interest questionnaires 

It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and unanimously 

passed to accept the Compliance Department quarterly report as 

presented. 

 

Chief Nursing Officer Tracy Aspel called attention to the following 

(proposed) District wide Policies and Procedures: 

- Authorization of Hours Worked Beyond Regularly Scheduled Shift 

(Including Overtime Request).   

- Guidelines for Licensed Nurses Nursing Students Giving 

Medications 

429



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   February 20, 2019 

Regular Meeting                      Page 4 of  5 

 

 

 

 

CHARGE CAPTURE 

POLICY 

 

 

 

BOARD DISCUSSION 

ON RESPONSE TO 

EMAILS AND LETTERS 

 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

STATUS REPORT AND 

NEXT STEPS 

 

 

 

 

PHASE II RESPONSE TO 

BUDGET 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BRIDGE GRANT 

AWARD 

 

 

 

 

OFFICE SPACE MOVES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

- Thrombolytic Therapy for Acute Myocardial Infarction 

It was moved by Ms. Hubbard, seconded by Ms. Turner, and unanimously 

passed to approve all three Policies and Procedures as presented. 

 

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble called attention to a proposed  

Policy and Procedure titled Charge Capture Policy. It was moved by Mr. 

Sharp, seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and unanimously passed to approve the 

proposed Charge Capture Policy as presented. 

 

Discussion took place on the topic of Board of Directors response to 

emails and letters received.  At the conclusion of discussion it was 

determined that receipt of correspondences by the Board can and should 

be acknowledged (any number of Board members may respond 

independently), then responsibility and determination of further action 

needed will be handled by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).  The CEO 

will later provide feedback to the Board of Directors as appropriate. 

 

Doctor Flanigan provided a status report on progress made toward 

achieving the goals of the District’s Strategic Plan, including an overview 

of leadership’s current strategies in the areas of patient experience; the 

workforce experience; quality; and finance and market share.  He also 

provided a look forward at upcoming initiatives and proposed expansion 

of services, as well as future leadership strategies.   

 

Doctor Flanigan also provided an update on Phase II of the District’s 

response to a projected budget deficit for the second half of the current 

fiscal year.  He reviewed cost reduction efforts to date, and stated that 

Phase II will include looking at consolidation of responsibilities; pulling 

two positions from the budget; changing staffing models; and an expected 

expansion of the Chief of Staff role.  He additionally noted that Phase III 

of the District’s response to budget will take place during the fourth 

quarter of this fiscal year. 

 

Doctor Flanigan also reported that NIHD has been selected to participate 

in the California Bridge Program, an accelerated training program for 

healthcare providers to facilitate treatment of substance use disorders.  

The amount of NIHD’s Bridge grant award is $175,000, which will fund 

an 18-month program developed in response to the opioid crisis.  

 

Doctor Flanigan additionally stated there is some level of concern in the 

community regarding the many office space moves and relocations of 

staff that are currently in progress within the District.  He explained that 

reason for the moves is to consolidate departments into one area, in 

particular Finance staff which is currently spread out in several different 

locations within the facility. 

 

 Ms. Kilpatrick called attention to the Consent Agenda for this meeting, 

which contained the following items: 

430



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   February 20, 2019 

Regular Meeting                      Page 5 of  5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOARD MEMBER 

REPORTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT TO 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

 

RETURN TO OPEN 

SESSION AND REPORT 

OF ACTION TAKEN 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

- Approval of minutes of the January 16 2019 regular meeting 

- Approval of minutes of the February 6 special meeting 

- Policy and Procedure annual approvals 

It was moved by Mr. Tracy, seconded by Ms. Turner, and unanimously 

passed to approve all three Consent Agenda items as presented. 

 

Ms. Kilpatrick asked if any members of the Board of Directors wished to 

report on any items of interest.  Director Turner expressed appreciation of 

the Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) Legislative 

Day, which was recently attended by the full Board and the Chief 

Executive Officer.  Director Sharp commented that he has received 

positive feedback from employees regarding District leadership, and 

Director Hubbard reminded everyone that the Blue Ribbon 

Run/Walk/Ride event will take place on Saturday, March 9.  No other 

comments were heard. 

 

At 8:00pm Ms. Kilpatrick announced the meeting would adjourn to 

Closed Session to allow the Board of Directors to: 

A. Confer with Legal Counsel regarding potential litigation, 1 matter 

pending (pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)). 

 

At 8:15 pm the meeting returned to Open Session.  Ms. Kilpatrick 

reported the Board took no reportable action. 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:16 pm. 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  _________________________________ 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, President 

 

 

         Attest: _________________________________ 

                              Robert Sharp, Secretary 

431




